
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

  

December 6th , 2016  9:00 am 
 

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jan J. Moore 
 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Mayor Jan Moore 
 

3. Recognitions/Public Presentations  
A) Presentation from Marlethia Lawrence, FEMA Crisis Counselor at Pineland BHDD 

 
4. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 

 
5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

A) Approval of Minutes 
 

6. Consideration of a Motion to Approve a Resolution to Change the name of the Veterans 
Administration Clinic in Statesboro to the Ray Hendrix Clinic 

 
7. Administrative Hearing for alleged alcohol violation as pursuant to Chapter 6 of the City 

of Statesboro Alcohol Ordinance: 
           Enforcement from the Statesboro Police Department: 
                                                                     Current Offense             Violations last 5 Years   
                      
            a)  Kunal Patel                            November 2, 2016                  September 12, 2014 

      Reema Inc                             Sale to Underage      Dept. of Revenue, Sale to Underage 
     DBA Dixie Food Store 
     1495 Northside Drive East 

       

b) Clint Crews                 November 2, 2016   March 28, 2013 
       Walgreen Co                       Sale to Underage                     SPD, Sale to Underage 
       DBA Walgreens #09257      January 22, 2015 

613 Northside Drive East                  SPD, Sale to Underage 
 

c) Annette Jones     November 2, 2016             August 07, 2013 
      Wal Mart Stores East LP      Sale to Underage      SPD, Sale to Underage 
      DBA Wal Mart #754 

147 Northside Drive East 
 

 

 



 
 

d) Clyde Woolard          November 2, 2016             August 20, 2014 
      Coastal Area Stores Inc.        Sale to Underage   Dept. of Revenue, Sale to Underage 
      DBA Clyde’s Market #76                March 03, 2016  
      17874 Fair Road                      SPD, Sale to Underage 

 
8. Consideration of a Motion to Approve an Alcohol Catering License Application: 

They currently have an Alcohol License for Retail Liquor, Beer and Wine by the Drink. 
 A) 40 East Grill 
      Woody Pumphrey 
      40 East Main Street 
 

9. Public Hearing and Second Reading for Consideration of a Motion to Approve 
Ordinance 2016-12: An Ordinance amending Chapter 42 of the Statesboro Code of 
Ordinances (Fire Protection and Prevention).  
 

10. Consideration of a Motion to award the purchase of 7 Ford Police Interceptor SUVs to 
Allan Vigil Ford per the Georgia State Contract in the amount of $199,605.00, the unit 
price of the vehicle is $26,680.00 plus an additional $1,835.00 for an extended warranty 
(7 Year/ 100,000 miles). The funding from this purchase comes from funds approved in 
the FY 2013 SPLOST.  
 

11. Consideration of a Motion to award the purchase of 7 4RE in car video camera systems to 
Watch Guard in the amount of $36,970.00, as a sole source purchase.  The funding from 
this purchase comes from funds approved in the FY 2013 SPLOST in the amount of 
$32,203.94 and $4,766.06 coming from the Seized Fund Account. 

 
12. Consideration of a Motion to award the up fitting the 7 Ford Police Interceptor SUVs to 

West Chatham Warning Devices in the amount of $59,350.06 for $8,478.58 per 
unit.  The equipment will be installed by the City shop at an estimated cost of 
$8,841.00. The funding from this purchase comes from funds approved in the FY 2013 
SPLOST. 
 

13. Consideration of a motion to approve the Certified Officer Hiring Bonus (COHB) and 
Military Service Bonus (MSB) proposals for newly hired officers of the Statesboro Police 
Department.  This proposal will be tested and evaluated in a pilot program that will 
expire at the end of FY 2018.   
 

14. Consideration of a Motion to approve a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between 
the City of Statesboro, DCA and the DSDA for the 2017 Georgia Classic Main Streets 
Program. 
 

15. Consideration of a Motion to approve the purchase of a Case IH Farmall 75C Tractor 
from AimTrac in the amount of $36,500.00. This tractor is budgeted under CIP#ENG-
STS-111 in the amount of $45,000.00 and is funded by the GMA Lease Pool with 
payments from the general fund. 
 



 
 

16. Consideration of a motion to approve a Governmental Pole Attachment License 
Agreement with Georgia Power Company, and a Special Encroachment Permit 
Application to the Georgia Department of Transportation, so that the City may attach 
"Blue Mile" banners to Georgia Power poles along South Main Street from East Vine 
Street to Tillman Street. 
 

17. Consideration of a Motion to Approve Resolution 2016-42: A Resolution Amending the 
Rules and Regulations Governing Water and Sewer Utility Procedures.  
 

18.  Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2016-43: A Resolution to appoint 
Carlos C. Brown, Jr. to the Statesboro Planning Commission for a four year term. 
 

19. Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2016-44: A Resolution to appoint Mary 
Foreman to the Statesboro Planning Commission for a four year term. 
 

20. Consideration of a Motion to approve the employment contract between the Mayor and 
City Council and I Cain Smith as the new City Attorney.  

 
21. Other Business from City Council 

 
22. City Managers Comments 

A) Discussion of proposed changes to Chapter 6 (Alcohol Ordinance 
B) Update on City of Statesboro Personnel Policy 

 
23. Public Comments (General) 

A) John Hunter request to comment on animal control 
B) Yantii Johnson request to comment on transportation in the City  

 
24. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Potential 

Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A.§50-14-3 (2012) 
 

25. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



Crisis Counseling 
Assistance and 

Training Program 
(CCP)

What Services Are Funded 
by the CCP?

•	 Individual	Crisis	Counseling—Helps	
survivors	understand	their	reactions,	
improve	coping	strategies,	review	their	
options,	and	connect	with	other	individuals	
and	agencies	that	may	assist	them

•	 Basic	Supportive	or	Educational	Contact—
General	support	and	information	on	
resources	and	services	available	to	disaster	
survivors

•	 Group	Crisis	Counseling—Group	sessions	
led	by	trained	crisis	counselors	who	offer	
skills	to	help	group	members	cope	with	
their	situations	and	reactions

•	 Public	Education—Information	and	
education	about	typical	reactions,	helpful	
coping	strategies,	and	available	disaster-
related	resources

•	 Community	Networking	and	Support—
Relationship	building	with	community	
resource	organizations,	faith-based	groups,	
and	local	agencies

•	 Assessment,	Referral,	and	Resource	
Linkage—Adult	and	child	needs	
assessment	and	referral	to	additional	
disaster	relief	services	or	mental	health	or	
substance	abuse	treatment

•	 Development	and	Distribution	of	
Educational	Materials—Flyers,	brochures,	
tip	sheets,	educational	materials,	and	Web	
site	information	developed	and	distributed	
by	CCP	staff

•	 Media	and	Public	Service	
Announcements—Media	activities	and	
public	messaging	in	partnership	with	
local	media	outlets,	State	and	local	
governments,	charitable	organizations,	or	
other	community	brokers	of	information

Questions?
If	you	would	like	to	know	more	about	the	
CCP,	its	eligibility	criteria,	and	its	application	
requirements,	please	contact	the	SAMHSA	
Disaster	Technical	Assistance	Center	(DTAC).

SAMHSA DTAC

Toll-Free:	1-800-308-3515
E-Mail:	dtac@samhsa.hhs.gov

http://www.samhsa.gov/dtac

Printed	2009																																										(SMA)	09-4373

http://www.samhsa.gov/dtac


What Is the Mission of  
the CCP?
The	mission	of	the	Crisis	Counseling	Assistance	
and	Training	Program	(CCP)	is	to	assist	
individuals	and	communities	in	recovering	
from	the	challenging	effects	of	natural	
and	human-caused	disasters	through	the	
provision	of	community-based	outreach	and	
psychoeducational	services.

What Is the CCP?
The	CCP	is	composed	of	two	grant	programs:	

•	 Immediate	Services	Program	(ISP)—	
60	days	in	duration

•	 Regular	Services	Program	(RSP)—	
9	months	in	duration

The	CCP	is:	

•	 Authorized	under	the	Robert	T.	Stafford	
Disaster	Relief	and	Emergency	Assistance	
Act	(Stafford	Act)

•	 Funded	by	the	Federal	Emergency	
Management	Agency	(FEMA)

•	 Requires	a	Presidential	declaration	of	
disaster	for	Individual	Assistance	for	short-
term	behavioral	health	support	when	
disaster	response	needs	are	beyond	States’	
capacity

•	 Administered	through	an	interagency	
Federal	partnership	between	FEMA	and	
the	Substance	Abuse	and	Mental	Health	
Services	Administration	(SAMHSA)	Center	
for	Mental	Health	Services	

•	 Culturally	competent,	understanding,	
respectful,	and	sensitive	to	the	cultural	
makeup	of	communities	served

Who Can Provide CCP 
Services?

•	 States,	U.S.	Territories,	and	federally	
recognized	tribes	are	eligible	to	apply	for	a	
CCP	grant

•	 Services	are	typically	provided	to	the	
affected	areas	by	behavioral	health	
organizations	through	contracts	with	a	
State’s	department	of	mental	health

•	 A	combination	of	mental	health	
professionals	and	paraprofessionals,	who	
are	trained	and	supervised	to	deliver	an	
array	of	crisis	counseling	services

•	 CCP	staff	are	usually	indigenous	to	the	
affected	communities	and	are	sometimes	
survivors	themselves

What Are the Goals of  
the CCP?
The	CCP	strives	to:

•	 Reach	large	numbers	of	people	affected	
by	disasters	through	face-to-face	outreach	
to	shelters,	homes,	and	other	locations

•	 Assess	the	emotional	needs	of	survivors	
and	make	referrals	to	traditional	
behavioral	health	services	when	necessary

•	 Identify	tangible	needs	and	link	survivors	
to	community	resources	and	disaster	relief	
services

•	 Provide	emotional	support,	education,	
basic	crisis	counseling,	and	connection	to	
familial	and	community	support	systems

•	 Train	and	educate	CCP	staff	and	other	
community	partners	about	disaster	

reactions,	appropriate	interventions,	and	
CCP	services

•	 Develop	partnerships	with	local	disaster	
and	other	organizations

•	 Work	with	local	stakeholders	to	promote	
community	resilience	and	recovery

•	 Collect	and	evaluate	data	to	ensure	quality	
services	and	justify	program	efforts

•	 Leave	behind	a	permanent	legacy	of	
improved	coping	skills,	educational	
and	resource	materials,	and	enhanced	
community	linkages

What Are the Key Principles 
of the CCP Model?
CCP	is:

•	 Strengths	Based—CCP	services	promote	
resilience,	empowerment,	and	recovery

•	 Anonymous—Crisis	counselors	do	not	
classify,	label,	or	diagnose	people;	no	
records	or	case	files	are	kept

•	 Outreach	Oriented—Crisis	counselors	
deliver	services	in	the	communities	
rather	than	wait	for	survivors	to	seek	their	
assistance

•	 Conducted	in	Nontraditional	Settings—
Crisis	counselors	make	contact	in	homes	
and	communities,	not	in	clinical	or	office	
settings

•	 Designed	To	Strengthen	Existing	
Community	Support	Systems—The	CCP	
supplements,	but	does	not	supplant	or	
replace,	existing	community	systems



 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
Council Minutes 

November 15, 2016 

 
A regular meeting of the Statesboro City Council was held on November 15th, 2016 at 5:30p.m. 
in the Council Chambers at City Hall. Present were Mayor Jan J. Moore, Council Members: Phil 
Boyum, Sam Lee Jones, Jeff Yawn and Travis Chance.  Also present were City Manager Randy 
Wetmore, Deputy City Manager Robert Cheshire, City Clerk Sue Starling and City Attorney 
Alvin Leaphart. Councilman John Riggs was absent.      
The meeting was called to order by Mayor Jan J. Moore. 
 
The Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance was led by Councilman Jeff Yawn 
 
Public Comments (Agenda Item): None 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

A) Approval of Minutes 
a) 11-01-2016 Council Minutes 

 
Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to approve the consent 
agenda in its entirety. Councilman Jones, Yawn and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The 
motion carried by a 3-0 vote 
 
Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve Alcohol License Application: 

A) Quick Shop 
           Karan Patel 
            301 N Main Street 
            Statesboro Ga 30458 
 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Jones to open the public hearing. 
Councilman Jones, Yawn and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 3-0 
vote. 
Karan Patel was sworn in by Mayor Moore. Interim Police Chief Rob Bryan stated the previous 
owner of the business was cited in 2014 and 2015 with alcohol violations but there is no 
connection with the current owner. Chief Bryan stated there were no objections for the approval 
of the application.  
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Jones to close the public hearing. 
Councilman Jones, Yawn and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 3-0 
vote. 
Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to approve the alcohol 
application. Councilman Jones, Yawn and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 3-0 vote. 
 



 
 

Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION # RZ 16-10-
01: Marc Bruce on behalf of J.C. Lewis Investment Company, LLC requests a zoning map 
amendment for 1 acre of property located at 115 Continental Road from CR (Commercial 
Retail) zoning district to HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) zoning district to permit a 
retail new and used automobile dealership at the location (Tax Parcel # MS42 000013 000). 
 
 Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION # RZ 16-10-
02: Marc Bruce on behalf of J.C. Lewis Investment Company, LLC requests a zoning map 
amendment for 8.21 acres of property located at 0 Veterans Memorial Parkway from CR 
(Commercial Retail) zoning district to HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) zoning 
district to permit a retail new and used automobile dealership at the location (Tax Parcel # 
MS42 000012 000). 
 
Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION # RZ 16-10-
03: Marc Bruce on behalf of J.C. Lewis Investment Company, LLC requests a zoning map 
amendment for a .5 acre parcel located at 0 Veterans Memorial Parkway from CR 
(Commercial Retail) zoning district to HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) zoning 
district to permit a retail new and used automobile dealership at the location (Tax Parcel # 
MS42 000012 002). 
 
Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION # RZ 16-11-
02: Marc Bruce on behalf of J.C. Lewis Investment Company, LLC requests a zoning map 
amendment for 4.8 acres of property located at 0 Veterans Memorial Parkway from CR 
(Commercial Retail) zoning district to HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) zoning 
district to permit a retail new and used automobile dealership at the location (Tax Parcel # 
MS42 000012 001). 
 
Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to open the public hearing 
for application RZ 16-10-01, RZ 16-10-02,  RZ 16-10-03 and  RZ 16-11-02. 
 Councilman Jones, Yawn and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 3-0 
vote. 
Director of Planning and Zoning Frank Neal presented the details for application RZ 16-10-01:, 
RZ 16-10-02,  RZ 16-10-03 and  RZ 16-11-02. 
Marc Bruce representing J.C. Lewis and Walter Lewis were present. They spoke in favor of the 
request. 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Chance to close the public hearing 
for application RZ 16-10-01, RZ 16-10-02,  RZ 16-10-03 and  RZ 16-11-02. 
 Councilman Jones, Yawn and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 3-0 
vote. 
 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Chance to approve 
APPLICATION # RZ 16-10-01: Marc Bruce on behalf of J.C. Lewis Investment Company, 
LLC requests a zoning map amendment for 1 acre of property located at 115 Continental Road 
from CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district to HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) zoning 
district to permit a retail new and used automobile dealership at the location (Tax Parcel # MS42 
000013 000). Councilman Jones, Yawn and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 3-0 vote. 



 
 

 
Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to Approve: 
APPLICATION # RZ 16-10-02: Marc Bruce on behalf of J.C. Lewis Investment Company, 
LLC requests a zoning map amendment for 8.21 acres of property located at 0 Veterans 
Memorial Parkway from CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district to HOC (Highway Oriented 
Commercial) zoning district to permit a retail new and used automobile dealership at the location 
(Tax Parcel # MS42 000012 000). Councilman Jones, Yawn and Chance voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion carried by a 3-0 vote. 
 
Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to approve 
APPLICATION # RZ 16-10-03: Marc Bruce on behalf of J.C. Lewis Investment Company, 
LLC requests a zoning map amendment for a .5 acre parcel located at 0 Veterans Memorial 
Parkway from CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district to HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) 
zoning district to permit a retail new and used automobile dealership at the location (Tax Parcel # 
MS42 000012 002). Councilman Jones, Yawn and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The 
motion carried by a 3-0 vote. 
 
Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to approve   
APPLICATION # RZ 16-11-02: Marc Bruce on behalf of J.C. Lewis Investment Company, 
LLC requests a zoning map amendment for 4.8 acres of property located at 0 Veterans Memorial 
Parkway from CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district to HOC (Highway Oriented Commercial) 
zoning district to permit a retail new and used automobile dealership at the location (Tax Parcel # 
MS42 000012 001). 
 
Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION # V 16-09-02: 
Beacon Place Statesboro, LLC requests a variance from Article XV Section 1509(C) Table 
3 regarding maximum allowed height for the installation of a monument sign at 0 S&S 
Railroad Bed Road (Tax Parcel # 107 000005 007). 
 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Chance to open the public hearing. 
Councilman Jones, Yawn and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 3-0 
vote. 
Josh Whitfield, Whitfield Signs, spoke in favor of the request. 
Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to close the public hearing. 
Councilman Jones, Yawn and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 3-0 
vote. 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Jones to approve APPLICATION 
# V 16-09-02: Beacon Place Statesboro, LLC requests a variance from Article XV Section 
1509(C) Table 3 regarding maximum allowed height for the installation of a monument sign at 0 
S&S Railroad Bed Road (Tax Parcel # 107 000005 007). Councilman Jones, Yawn and Chance 
voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 3-0 vote. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION # V 16-10-06: 
Compassion Christian Church requests a variance from Article XV Section 1509(C) Table 
3 regarding the maximum aggregate sign area and maximum square feet allowed for 
installation of a monument sign and building signs at 0 Cawana Road (Tax Parcel # 107 
000004 000). 
 
Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to open the public hearing. 
Councilman Jones, Yawn and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 3-0 
vote. 
Josh Whitfield, Whitfield Signs, spoke in favor of the request. 
Councilman Phil Boyum joined the meeting at 5:50 pm. 
Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to close the public hearing. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried 
by a 4-0 vote. 
Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to approve 
APPLICATION # V 16-10-06: Compassion Christian Church requests a variance from Article 
XV Section 1509(C) Table 3 regarding the maximum aggregate sign area and maximum square 
feet allowed for installation of a monument sign and building signs at 0 Cawana Road (Tax 
Parcel # 107 000004 000). Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Chance voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION # RZ 16-10-
05: Ray Hendley requests a zoning map amendment for a 1.19 acre parcel located at 453 
South College Street from R20 (Single-Family Residential) zoning district to R4 (High 
Density Residential District) zoning district to permit the construction of five (5) one-
bedroom cottages (Tax Parcel # S21 000006 000). 
 
Councilman Jones made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to open the public hearing. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried 
by a 4-0 vote. 
Brian Davis representing Hendley Properties spoke in favor of the request. Rich Curlin stated he 
was no against the request but was concerned with the traffic at the intersection. Jason McCoy 
also stated he was not opposed to the request but was concerned with the traffic and the traffic 
flow. Mr. Curlin and Mr. McCoy also stated that cars were not stopping at the stop signs. 
Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to close the public hearing. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried 
by a 4-0 vote. 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Jones to approve APPLICATION 
# RZ 16-10-05: Ray Hendley requests a zoning map amendment for a 1.19 acre parcel located at 
453 South College Street from R20 (Single-Family Residential) zoning district to R4 (High 
Density Residential District) zoning district to permit the construction of five (5) one-bedroom 
cottages (Tax Parcel # S21 000006 000). Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Chance voted in 
favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
 
 



 
 

Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION # V 16-11-01: 
Ray Hendley requests a variance from Article XXII Sec. 2203.1(A) regarding the minimum 
size dwelling requirements and a variance from Article VI Sec. 603(A)(1) regarding the 
minimum rear yard setback for the parcel located at 453 South College Street (Tax Parcel 
# S21 000006 000). 
 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Jones to open the public hearing. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried 
by a 4-0 vote. 
Brian Davis representing Hendley Properties and Rick Curlin spoke in favor of the request. 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Jones to close the public hearing. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried 
by a 4-0 vote. 
Councilman Jones made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to approve APPLICATION 
# V 16-11-01: Ray Hendley requests a variance from Article XXII Sec. 2203.1(A) regarding the 
minimum size dwelling requirements and a variance from Article VI Sec. 603(A)(1) regarding 
the minimum rear yard setback for the parcel located at 453 South College Street (Tax Parcel # 
S21 000006 000). Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Chance voted in favor of the motion. 
The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION # DSDA 16-
10-002: AgSouth Farm Credit requests the demolition of a structure located at 20 East 
Vine Street, a property located within the boundaries of the Downtown District. Article 
XXX Section 3003 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance requires a finding of necessity for 
the demolition of structures deemed worthy of preservation by City Council (Tax Parcel # 
S29 000022 000). 
 
Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION # DSDA 16-
10-001: AgSouth Farm Credit requests the demolition of a structure located at 0 East Vine 
Street, a property located within the boundaries of the Downtown District. Article XXX 
Section 3003 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance requires a finding of necessity for the 
demolition of structures deemed worthy of preservation by City Council (Tax Parcel # S29 
000021 000). 
 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Jones to open the public hearing for 
APPLICATION # DSDA 16-10-001 and APPLICATION # DSDA 16-10-002. 
 Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried 
by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Attorney Bob Mikell, representing Ag South, spoke in favor of the request. Also present was 
John Rule and Phyllis Thompson who spoke in favor the request. 
 
Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to close the public hearing 
for APPLICATION # DSDA 16-10-001 and APPLICATION # DSDA 16-10-002. 
 Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried 
by a 4-0 vote. 
 



 
 

Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to approve 
APPLICATION # DSDA 16-10-002: AgSouth Farm Credit requests the demolition of a 
structure located at 20 East Vine Street, a property located within the boundaries of the 
Downtown District. Article XXX Section 3003 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance requires a 
finding of necessity for the demolition of structures deemed worthy of preservation by City 
Council (Tax Parcel # S29 000022 000). Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Chance voted in 
favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Chance to approve 
APPLICATION # DSDA 16-10-001: AgSouth Farm Credit requests the demolition of a 
structure located at 0 East Vine Street, a property located within the boundaries of the Downtown 
District. Article XXX Section 3003 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance requires a finding of 
necessity for the demolition of structures deemed worthy of preservation by City Council (Tax 
Parcel # S29 000021 000). Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Chance voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
16. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Adopt Resolution 2016-41: A 
Resolution Authorizing the Abandonment and Relocation of a Public Right of Way, 
Specifically the Unnamed Paved Alley Connecting East Vine Street to East Cherry Street.  
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion seconded by Councilman Jones to open the public hearing 
for Resolution 2016-41: A Resolution Authorizing the Abandonment and Relocation of a Public 
Right of Way, Specifically the Unnamed Paved Alley Connecting East Vine Street to East 
Cherry Street. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The 
motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Attorney Bob Mikell spoke in favor of the request. 
 
Councilman Chance made a motion seconded by Councilman Yawn to close the public hearing. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried 
by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Councilman Chance made a motion seconded by Councilman Yawn to approve Resolution 
2016-41: A Resolution Authorizing the Abandonment and Relocation of a Public Right of Way, 
Specifically the Unnamed Paved Alley Connecting East Vine Street to East Cherry Street. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried 
by a 4-0 vote. 
 
17. Public Hearing and First Reading on Ordinance 2016-12: An Ordinance amending 
Chapter 42 of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances (Fire Protection and Prevention). 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion seconded by Councilman Yawn to open the Public Hearing 
for the first reading on Ordinance 2016-12: An Ordinance amending Chapter 42 of the 
Statesboro Code of Ordinances (Fire Protection and Prevention). Councilman Boyum, Jones, 
Yawn and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
 



 
 

Councilman Yawn made a motion seconded by Councilman Jones to close the Public Hearing 
for the first reading on Ordinance 2016-12: An Ordinance amending Chapter 42 of the 
Statesboro Code of Ordinances (Fire Protection and Prevention). Councilman Boyum, Jones, 
Yawn and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
18. Consideration of a Motion to Apply for the Georgia Department of 
Transportation’s (GDOT) FY 2017 Local Maintenance and Improvement Grant (LMIG), 
an annual program in which GDOT allocates transportation funds to local governments. 
For FY 2017, GDOT will allocate $274,078.31 to the City of Statesboro if the City will 
commit to providing at least 30% matching funds.  
 
Councilman Jones made a motion seconded by Councilman Boyum to apply for the Georgia 
Department of Transportation’s (GDOT) FY 2017 Local Maintenance and Improvement Grant 
(LMIG), an annual program in which GDOT allocates transportation funds to local governments. 
For FY 2017, GDOT will allocate $274,078.31 to the City of Statesboro if the City will commit 
to providing at least 30% matching funds. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Chance voted 
in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
19. Consideration of a Motion to Adopt Resolution 2016-40   , A Resolution approving 
the City of Statesboro’s proposed FY 2017 Street Resurfacing List, and further authorizing 
the Mayor to execute the GDOT LMIG Application. The City’s share (at least 30% 
matching funds) will be funded through 2013 SPLOST. The City has $320,000 in 2013 
SPLOST funds allocated to Street Resurfacing in FY 2017. 
 
Councilman Yawn made a motion seconded by Councilman Jones to Adopt Resolution 2016-
40: A Resolution approving the City of Statesboro’s proposed FY 2017 Street Resurfacing List, 
and further authorizing the Mayor to execute the GDOT LMIG Application. The City’s share (at 
least 30% matching funds) will be funded through 2013 SPLOST. The City has $320,000 in 
2013 SPLOST funds allocated to Street Resurfacing in FY 2017. Councilman Boyum, Jones, 
Yawn and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
20. Consideration of a Motion to award the purchase of a new Caterpillar 304ECR 
mini-excavator with attachments per the Georgia State Contract in the amount of 
$67,274.25. This machine is for use by the Stormwater Division of Public Works. This item 
is budgeted in FY 2017 in the amount of $79,000.00 and is listed under CIP# STM-14 and 
will be funded through the GMA Lease Pool by Stormwater Fund revenues. 
 
Councilman Chance made a motion seconded by Councilman Boyum to award the purchase of a 
new Caterpillar 304ECR mini-excavator with attachments per the Georgia State Contract in the 
amount of $67,274.25. This machine is for use by the Stormwater Division of Public Works. 
This item is budgeted in FY 2017 in the amount of $79,000.00 and is listed under CIP# STM-14 
and will be funded through the GMA Lease Pool by Stormwater Fund revenues. Councilman 
Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
 
 



 
 

21. Consideration of a Motion to Adopt Resolution 2016-36: A Resolution approving the 
Amended and Restated Gas Supply Contract between the City of Statesboro and 
Municipal Gas Authority of Georgia and authorizing the execution, delivery and 
performance of the Amended and Restated Gas Supply Contract, and for other purposes. 
 
Councilman Chance made a motion seconded by Councilman Yawn to Adopt Resolution 2016-
36: A Resolution approving the Amended and Restated Gas Supply Contract between the City of 
Statesboro and Municipal Gas Authority of Georgia and authorizing the execution, delivery and 
performance of the Amended and Restated Gas Supply Contract, and for other purposes. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried 
by a 4-0 vote. 
 
22. Discussion of Alcohol Administrative Hearings/Procedures. 
 
City Attorney, Alvin Leaphart explained the basic rules and procedures for administrative 
hearings in accordance with Chapter 6 of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Statesboro. 
 
23. Other Business from City Council: None 
 
24. City Managers Comments 

A) Update on the CDBG Grant 
 

Director of Planning and Development Frank Neal gave an update on the $500,000.00 CDBG for 
the street and drainage improvement. The designated areas for improvement will be on Kent 
Street, Lovett Street and Bryant Street. 
 
Councilman Boyum made a comment stating this is our third major redevelopment downtown. A 
few years ago Council passed the TAD in order to encourage redevelopment downtown. 
Councilman Boyum stated he wants to challenge the Bulloch County Board of Commissioners 
and the Board of Education to vote on this TAD project and submit their participation in the 
support of the City of Statesboro’s Blue Mile. 
  
25. Public Comments (General): None 
 
26. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel 
Matters”  and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A.§50-14-3 (2012) 
 
At 7:30 pm Councilman Chance made a motion seconded by Councilman Jones to enter into 
Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters”  and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance 
with O.C.G.A.§50-14-3 (2012). Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Chance voted in favor of 
the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
At 9:00 pm Councilman Chance made a motion seconded by Councilman Yawn to exit 
Executive Session. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Chance voted in favor of the motion. 
The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 



 
 

Mayor Moore called the regular meeting back to order with no action being taken. 
 
27. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 
 
Councilman Chance made a motion seconded by Councilman Yawn to adjourn the meeting. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried 
by a 4-0 vote. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 9:00 pm. 
 
 
 



 

Resolution to Change the Name of the Veteran’s Administration Clinic in 
Statesboro to the Ray Hendrix Clinic  

Whereas Ray Hendrix was a Bulloch County citizen for more than 80 years, and  

Whereas Ray Hendrix was a Korean War Era veteran, and 

Whereas Ray Hendrix served in the National Guard serving 42 years with command sergeant major his 
highest rank, and was  honored as Outstanding Soldier of Georgia through the State Merit System and,  

Whereas Ray was the only person from Georgia to be nominated and honored as Legionnaire of the Decade 
and,  

Whereas Ray served in the American Legion for over 60 years in many post, state and national positions 
including post, district and department commander, Judge Advocate of Post 90 and State of Georgia and 
elected National Executive Committeeman of Georgia, serving 10 years and,  

Whereas he served a Governor-appointed position to the State Veterans Board through the VA Service 
Board for three 7-year terms; serving under three governors and, Ray was also appointed chairman of State 
Veterans Board  and,   

Whereas he helped, through the American Legion, organize a transport system for veterans needing to visit 
VA hospitals in Augusta and Dublin and,  

Whereas Ray assisted in having a bus donated by the VFW and organized funding through the Hospital 
Authority of Statesboro-Bulloch County to pay drivers. The bus transported veterans to both Augusta and 
Dublin and,  

Whereas with the American Legion, he has served as a contact to distribute wheelchairs, walkers and 
crutches to individuals in need and distributed flags to public schools and,  

Whereas Ray worked diligently assisting in the collection of 5,000 signatures throughout the community to 
show the need/interest for a VA clinic and,  

Whereas he campaigned with the VA in Washington and proposed the idea to Congress, which was 
eventually approved,  

Be it resolved that we, members of the Statesboro, Georgia City Council, support the name change of the 
Veterans Administration Clinic in Statesboro to the Ray Hendrix Veterans Clinic in honor of all of the great 
work that Mr. Hendrix has done in support of Veterans and those in the Armed Services in our area and 
around the State of Georgia. 

 
__________________ 

Jan J. Moore, Mayor 
 

__________________ 
Sue Starling, City Clerk 





















Page 1 

Ordinance #2016-12
An Ordinance Amending Chapter 42 of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances 

(FIRE PROTECTION AND PREVENTION) 

WHEREAS, Section 3-6 of Article III of the Charter of the City of Statesboro grants the Mayor and City 
Council authority to establish departments, and agencies of the city as necessary for the proper 
administration of the affairs and government of the city as well as prescribe the functions or duties of 
departments, and agencies of the city as necessary for the proper administration of the affairs and 
government of the city. 

WHEREAS, Section 4-5 of Article IV of the Charter of the City of Statesboro grants the Mayor and City 
Council authority to fix and establish fire limits and from time to time to extend, enlarge, or restrict same; 
to prescribe fire safety regulations not inconsistent with general law, relating to both fire prevention and 
detection and to fire fighting; and to prescribe penalties and punishment for violation thereof; 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council has determined there is sufficient reason and need to amend 

Chapter 42 (FIRE PROTECTION AND PREVENTION) of the Code of Ordinances, City of Statesboro, 

Georgia; 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Statesboro, Georgia, 

in regular session assembled as follows: 

SECTION 1: 

Chapter 42 (FIRE PROTECTION AND PREVENTION) to the Code of Ordinances of the City of 

Statesboro is hereby amended in its entirety and shall read as follows: 

Sec.  42-1  Fire Department Created 

Sec. 42-2.  Authority at Fires and Other Emergencies 

Sec. 42-3.  Fire codes adopted.  

Sec. 42-4. - False fire alarms. 

Sec. 42-5. - Parking in Fire lanes; Authority to prevent blocking of private ways and alleys. 

Sec. 42-6. - Fees. 

Sec. 42-7. - Construction Plans Approval. 

Sec. 42-8. - Permits. 

Sec. 42-9. - Hazardous materials response cost recovery. 

Sec. 42-10. – Posting of Address 

Sec. 42-11. – Emergency Services Repository Unit and Secured Access 

Sec. 42-12. Fireworks 



Page 2 

Sec. 42-13. Open Air Burning  

Charter reference— Power of Mayor and Council to fix fire limits and to prescribe and enforce fire-safety 
regulations, § 4-5; Power of Mayor and Council to establish administrative and service departments, § 3-6 

Sec.  42-1. Fire Department Created 

There is created a Fire Department for the City of Statesboro. The Fire Department shall be composed of 
a Fire Chief and any officers or employees as deemed necessary.  The Fire Chief shall be the 
Department Head of the Fire Department.  Subject to the direction of the City Manager, the supervision 
and control of the department is vested in the Statesboro Fire Chief.   The Fire Department may provide 
any and all services as allowed by this ordinance and by state law, and shall have all authority provided in 
this ordinance as well as all authority provided by the general laws of the State of Georgia. 

Sec. 42-2.  Authority at Fires and Other Emergencies 

(1) The Fire Chief, or designated officer of the Fire Department in charge at the scene of a fire or 
other emergency involving the protection of life or property or any part thereof, shall have the authority to 
direct such operation as necessary to extinguish or control any fire, perform any rescue operation, 
investigate the existence of suspected or reported fires, gas leaks or other hazardous conditions or 
situations, or take any other action necessary in the reasonable performance of duty. 

(2) In the exercise of such power, the Fire Chief or designee is authorized to prohibit any person, 
vehicle, vessel or thing from approaching the scene and is authorized to remove, or cause to be removed 
or kept away from the scene, any vehicle, vessel or thing which could impede or interfere with the 
operations of the Fire Department and, in the judgment of the Fire Chief or designee, any person not 
actually and usefully employed in the extinguishing of such fire or in the preservation of property in the 
vicinity thereof. 

Sec. 42-3.  Fire codes adopted. 

(a) There is hereby adopted the following fire codes which are incorporated herein by reference as if 
fully written out in this section: 

(1) Pursuant to O.C.G.A. Section 25-2-1 et seq., and as may hereafter be amended, there is 
hereby adopted the state fire safety rules now and as may hereafter be promulgated by the 
Georgia Safety Fire Commissioner as set forth in Chapter 120-3-3 of Rules and Regulations of 
the State of Georgia State Fire Commissioner.  

(2) Pursuant to O.C.G.A. Section 8-2-20 and Section 8-2-25 and as may hereafter be amended, 
there is hereby adopted the International Fire Code (I.F.C.), including Chapter 1, Administration, 
as amended. As allowed in O.C.G.A. Section 8-2-25, the provisions of the International Fire 
Code are modified and amended in paragraphs (b) through (e) and Section 42-7 below.  

(3) O.C.G.A. Section 8-2-200 et seq., and as may hereafter be amended, is adopted by reference 
as if fully set forth herein. 

(4) Copies of the codes adopted in Paragraph (a) shall remain on file at the headquarters building 
of the Statesboro Fire Department. 

(5) All adopted Fire Codes shall be known as "Fire Codes." In the event the fire marshal determines 
that the provisions of the state fire safety rules and the provisions of the International Fire Code 
adopted hereinabove conflict, then the most restrictive provision as determined by the fire 
marshal shall govern.  

(6) Authority and Scope. The City of Statesboro is responsible for the application and enforcement 
of the Georgia State Minimum Fire Codes for any building, occupancy, premises or systems 
located in the City of Statesboro, as set forth in title 25-2-12(b), and in all jurisdictions with 



Page 3 

whom the City of Statesboro has a valid intergovernmental agreement for the provision of fire 
protection services  The provisions of this chapter shall apply equally to both public and private 
property, and to all structures and their occupants, except as otherwise specified herein or by 
other applicable law. Employees of the Statesboro Fire Department are authorized to enforce all 
applicable state laws, regulations, and all applicable provisions of this Chapter within the 
corporate limits of the City of Statesboro, Georgia and in all jurisdictions with whom the City of 
Statesboro has a valid intergovernmental agreement for the provision of fire protection services.  

(7) Establishment of the Fire Prevention Division. The Fire Chief May establish a fire prevention 
division which shall be responsible for application and enforcement of all matters involving this 
Chapter and the fire codes therein adopted. If such a division is created the Fire Code Official, 
as described in 42-3(e)(1) shall head this division, and may have subordinate fire officials within 
the department. The Fire Chief shall have the authority to establish the titles and responsibilities 
of those employed in this division. For example, the Fire Chief could designate that the Fire 
Code Official’s title as Fire Marshal and his fire official subordinates as Fire Prevention Officers. 

(b) Appeals of Administrative Decisions to the Fire Chief. Whenever the Fire Marshal disapproves an 
application or refuses to grant a permit applied for, or when it is claimed that the provisions of the 
Chapter do not apply, or that the true intent and meaning of the fire codes have been misconstrued 
or wrongly interpreted, the applicant may appeal in writing the decision of the Fire Marshal to the Fire 
Chief, or his designee within five days of the Fire Marshal's decision. The Fire Chief shall respond in 
writing within ten days unless the Fire Chief finds that due diligence requires a greater amount of 
time to render a decision.  If more time is needed by the Fire Chief to render a decision, the reasons 
and the amount of time needed will be provided to the appellant in writing within ten days of the filing 
of the appeal. The decision of the Fire Chief is final and may be appealed to the Superior Court by a 
petition for a writ of certiorari. .  

(c) Violations. 

(1) Unlawful acts. It shall be unlawful for a person, firm or corporation to erect, construct, alter, 
repair, remove, demolish or utilize a building, occupancy, premises or system regulated by this 
Chapter, or cause same to be done, in conflict with or in violation of any of the provisions of this 
Chapter which includes the fire codes identified in Section 42-2-3.  

(2) Notice of violation. When the fire code official finds building, occupancy, premises or system 
that is in violation of this Chapter which includes the fire codes identified in Section 42-2-3, the 
fire code official is authorized, but not required, to prepare a written notice of violation describing 
the conditions deemed unsafe and, when compliance is not immediate, specifying a time for 
reinspection.  

(3) Service. A notice of violation issued pursuant to this Chapter shall be served upon the owner, 
operator, occupant, or other person responsible for the condition or violation, either by personal 
service, mail, or by delivering the same to, and leaving it with, some person of responsibility 
upon the premises. For unattended or abandoned locations, a copy of such notice of violation 
shall be posted on the premises in a conspicuous place at or near the entrance to such 
premises and the notice of violation shall be mailed by certified mail with return receipt 
requested or a certificate of mailing to the last known address of the owner, occupant or both.  

(4) Compliance with orders and notices. A notice of violation issued or served as provided by this 
Chapter shall be complied with by the owner, operator, occupant or other person responsible for 
the condition or violation to which the notice of violation pertains.  

(5) Prosecution of violations. If the notice of violation is not complied with promptly, the fire code 
official is authorized to request the legal counsel of the jurisdiction to institute the appropriate 
legal proceedings at law or in equity to restrain, correct or abate such violation or to require 
removal or termination of the unlawful occupancy of the structure in violation of the provisions of 
this Chapter or of the order or direction made pursuant hereto. The fire code official shall also 
have authority to issue citations for violations of the Code of Ordinances of the City of 
Statesboro, and issue summons to appear in the Municipal Court of Statesboro. 



Page 4 

(6) Unauthorized tampering. Signs, tags or seals posted or affixed by the fire code official shall not 
be mutilated, destroyed or tampered with or removed without authorization from the fire code 
official.  

(7) Violation penalties. Persons who shall violate any provision of this Chapter or shall fail to 
comply with any of the requirements thereof or who shall erect, install, alter, repair or do work in 
violation of the approved construction documents or directive of the fire code official, or of a 
permit or certificate used under provisions of this code, shall be guilty of an offense punishable 
upon convictions in the Municipal Court of Statesboro as provided in Section 5-3 of the Charter 
of City of Statesboro. Each day that a violation continues after due notice has been served shall 
be deemed a separate offense.  

(8) Abatement of violation. In addition to the imposition of the penalties herein described, the fire 
code official is authorized to institute appropriate action to prevent unlawful construction or to 
restrain, correct or abate a violation; or to prevent illegal occupancy of a structure or premises; 
or to stop an illegal act, conduct of business or occupancy of a structure on or about any 
premises.  

(9) Stop Work Order. 

a. Order. Whenever the fire code official finds any work regulated by this code being
performed in a manner contrary to the provisions of this code or in a dangerous or unsafe
manner, the fire code official is authorized to issue a stop work order.

b. Issuance. A stop work order shall be in writing and shall be given to the owner of the
property, or to the owner's agent, or to the person doing the work. Upon issuance of a stop
work order, the cited work shall immediately cease. The stop work order shall state the
reason for the order and the conditions under which the cited work is authorized to resume.

c. Emergencies. Where an emergency exists, the fire code official shall not be required to
give a written notice prior to stopping the work.

d. Failure to comply. Any person who shall continue any work after having been served with a
stop work order, except such work as that person is directed to perform to remove a
violation or unsafe condition, shall be guilty of an offense.

(d) Unsafe Buildings. 

(1) General. If during the inspection of a premises, a building or structure or any building system, in 
whole or in part, constitutes a clear and inimical threat to human life, safety or health, the fire 
code official may issue such notice or orders to remove or remedy the conditions as may be 
deemed necessary in accordance with this section and may refer the building to the building 
department for any repairs, alterations, remodeling, removing or demolition required.  

(2) Unsafe conditions. Structures or existing equipment that are or hereafter become unsafe or 
deficient because of inadequate means of egress or which constitute a fire hazard, or are 
otherwise dangerous to human life or the public welfare, or which involve illegal or improper 
occupancy or inadequate maintenance may be deemed an unsafe condition. A vacant structure 
which is not secured against unauthorized entry as required by Section 311 of the I.F.C. may be 
deemed unsafe.  

(3) Structural hazards. When an apparent structural hazard is caused by the faulty installation, 
operation or malfunction of any of the items or devices governed by this code, the fire code 
official may immediately notify the building code official in accordance with this section.  

(4) Evacuation. The fire code official or the fire department official in charge of an incident shall be 
authorized to order the immediate evacuation of any occupied building deemed unsafe when 
such building has hazardous conditions that present imminent danger to building occupants. 
Persons so notified shall immediately leave the structure or premises and shall not enter or re-
enter until authorized to do so by the fire code official or the fire department official in charge of 
the incident.  



Page 5 

(5) Summary abatement. Where conditions exist that are deemed hazardous to life and property, 
the fire code official or fire department official in charge of the incident is authorized to abate 
summarily such hazardous conditions that are in violation of this code.  

(6) Abatement. The owner, operator, or occupant of a building or premises deemed unsafe by the 
fire code official shall abate or cause to be abated or corrected such unsafe conditions either by 
repair, rehabilitation, demolition or other approved corrective action.  

(e) Enforcement. 

(1) Fire Code Official. The fire code official is authorized to render interpretations of fire codes and 
to make and enforce rules and supplemental regulations in order to carry out the application 
and intent of the provisions of said fire codes. These rules and supplemental regulations 
adopted by the Fire Code Official shall be kept on file with the Fire Chief for review by the public 
during the regular business hours at the Headquarters Building of the Statesboro Fire 
Department.  Violation of any rule or supplemental regulation adopted by the Fire Code Official 
to carry out the application and intent of the provisions of said fire codes shall constitute a 
violation of this Chapter 

(2) Enforcement Assistance. Police and other enforcement agencies shall have the authority to 
render necessary assistance in the enforcement of fire codes when requested to do so by the 
fire code official.  

(3) Interference with Enforcement. Persons shall not interfere or cause conditions that would 
interfere with the fire code official carrying out any duties or functions prescribed in the fire 
codes.  

(4) Fire Watch. The fire code official shall have the authority to require standby fire personnel or an 
approved fire watch when potentially hazardous conditions or a reduction in a life safety feature 
exists due to the type of performance, display, exhibit, occupancy, contest or activity, an 
impairment to a fire protection feature, or the number of persons present.  

(5) Fire Watch Employment. The owner, agent, or leesee shall employ one or more qualified 
persons, as required and approved, to be on duty. Such standby personnel or fire watch 
personnel shall be subject to the fire code officials orders at all times and shall be identifiable 
and remain on duty during times such places are open to the public, when such activity is being 
conducted, or as required by the fire code official.  

Sec. 42-4. - False fire alarms. 

(a)  No person shall open or break into any fire alarm box for the purpose of, or with the intention of, 
turning in a false alarm of fire. 

(b)   If the Fire Department determines that the fire alarm activation is the result of a fire alarm 
malfunction, the owner may be served within five (5) days a “Fire Alarm Activation Report” indicating that 
the activation was deemed to be the result of a fire alarm malfunction. The owner receiving said report 
shall be required to return a completed “Affidavit of Service/Repair” within thirty (30) days of said alarm 
activation which shall verify, to the satisfaction of the Statesboro Fire Department, that the fire alarm 
system in question has actually been examined by a qualified fire alarm technician and that a bona fide 
attempt has been made to identify the cause of the fire alarm malfunction and corrective action taken.   

 (c)  Failure to return an “Affidavit of Service/Repair” within said thirty (30) day period, and which is 
satisfactory to the Statesboro Fire Department, may result in assessment against the owner of a nuisance 
fire alarm fee established pursuant Section 42-6. for failure to take corrective action.  For each and every 
further response to a fire alarm activation that is the result of a fire alarm malfunction where the owner 
has failed to return an “Affidavit of Service/Repair” within said thirty (30) day period, an additional 
nuisance fire alarm established pursuant Section 42-6. for failure to take corrective action may be 
assessed against the owner. 

Sec. 42-5. - Parking in Firelanes; Authority to prevent blocking of private ways and alleys. 



Page 6 

(a) Prohibition. It is prohibited for any person to stop, stand or park any motor vehicle in, or otherwise 
obstruct, any fire lane as described in this section. 

(b) Penalty. Unless otherwise provided for in the Schedule of Fines and Fees, the fine for any offense 
under this section shall be not less $100.00. 

(c) Definitions. The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this paragraph, shall have the 
meanings ascribed to them in this subsection, except where the context clearly indicates a different 
meaning:  

Fire lane means an area designated by the fire official which provides access to fire department 
connections and fire hydrants and provides access for fire department vehicles to buildings. This includes 
all alleys, including private alleys, private ways or driveways, where parking of motor vehicles or other 
obstructions can interfere with ingress or egress of fire department vehicles and equipment.  

Fire official means a fire officer or other designated authority or the fire officer's or authority's duly 
authorized representative charged with the administration and enforcement of the fire prevention code 
adopted in this chapter.  

Master plat means an original plat drawn in accordance with this section. 

Plat means a map created by the property owner and approved by the fire official which depicts the 
location and boundaries of land and all existing fire lanes in accordance with this section. Maps shall be 
drawn to scale.  

Property owner means each person possessing any estate or leasehold right in the property being 
designated as a fire lane.  

(d) Authority. The fire chief or the chief's duly authorized fire official may properly designate fire lanes 
and prevent the blocking of any private alley, private way or driveway by the parking of automobiles 
or otherwise within the City of Statesboro and in all jurisdictions with whom the City of Statesboro 
has a valid intergovernmental agreement for the provision of fire protection services..  

(e) Posting of signs. The property owner is required to post signs meeting the following criteria in areas 
designated as fire lanes: 

(1) Signs shall read: "No Parking—Fire Lane." 

(2) Signs must meet design specifications furnished by the fire department. 

(3) Signs shall be located no more than four feet from the edge of the curb, with one sign located at 
the beginning of the fire lane, one at the end of the fire lane, with additional signs spaced at 
such intervals along the fire lane that at least one sign is visible from any point along the fire 
lane from both directions of travel.  

(f) Painting of curbs. The fire chief or the chief's duly authorized fire official may order curbs adjacent to 
a fire lane to be painted red or another distinctive color. 

(g) Parking in fire lane. No person shall park, stand or stop any motor vehicle or place any other 
property in a fire lane; however, this section shall not apply to the parking of an authorized 
emergency vehicle.  

(h) Obstructing posted, private alley or driveway. Any person who shall park any vehicle of any 
character or place any other property in any private alley, private way or driveway which has been 
posted in accordance with this section or, any person owning or occupying property abutting the 
private alley, private way or driveway who shall cause or permit the placing of anything therein which 
would impede or block the passage of fire trucks and equipment shall be guilty of an offense.  

(i) Plats. Property which falls within City of Statesboro upon which fire lanes have been designated shall 
have all fire lane delineations visually depicted on a plat. These plats shall be designed by the 
property owner and submitted to the department of fire when notified to do so by a fire official. Each 
plat shall identify all building exterior walls, traffic and parking lanes and sidewalks. The areas to be 
designated as fire lanes shall be delineated in red ink. The plat shall state a scale of measurement 
and shall be on paper or series of pages of 8½ inches by 11 inches. The plat shall specify the name 



Page 7 

of the property, the location of the property, a brief legal description of the property and the length 
and width of the fire lanes, as approved by the fire official with whom all master plats shall be filed.  

(j) Enforcement officials. Fire officials, police officers, code enforcement officers or other duly 
authorized law enforcement officials shall have the authority for enforcement of fire lanes. Fire 
officials, police officers, code enforcement officers, or other duly authorized officials may cause to be 
removed to the nearest authorized place of impound or other place of safety any unattended vehicle 
or other property left standing in violation of this section. If a vehicle is towed by the City of 
Statesboro subject to this section, the City shall be authorized to use a call list established by the 
Statesboro Police Department of designated towing agencies to arrange for towing.   if no City of 
Statesboro equipment is available at the time of need for towing. The vehicle owner shall be charged 
for the towing and a daily impoundment storage fee at the same rate as provided for in section 6-15-
6 (Fees for Standard Duty Wrecker Service on Police Nonconsensual Call Lists) for both towing by 
City of Statesboro towing agencies.  

(k) Notice of violation. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Code, violations of this section may 
be enforced like all other ordinance violation by a notice of ordinance violation or citation and 
summons issued by any fire official, fire marshal police officer, or code enforcement officer as 
provided below:  

(2) A notice of ordinance violation may be served by delivery into the hands of the suspected 
violator or by leaving the notice of ordinance violation at the suspected violator's residence with 
a person of suitable age and discretion residing therein, or by leaving the notice of ordinance 
violation at the suspected violator's place of business if the violation occurs at the business 
location, with a person of suitable age and discretion employed therein.  

(3) Alternative to the provisions of subsection (2) above, a notice of ordinance violation may be 
served by substituted service as follows: 

a. The notice of ordinance violation may be placed on the front windshield of the illegally-
parked vehicle in a fashion reasonably calculated to secure the notice of ordinance
violation in place. Notices served according to this subsection shall be conspicuously
marked and placed in a waterproof packet.

b. The notice of ordinance violation may be served by securely attaching the notice of
ordinance violation to the front door of the primary residential or business structure on the
property served by the fire lane or to any other door to said structure reasonably appearing
to provide the primary point of egress to said residence or business. A notice of ordinance
violation served according to this subsection shall be posted on the upper part of the door,
shall be conspicuously marked and shall be placed in a waterproof packet.

(4) Violators may respond to a notice of ordinance violation either by signing the notice and 
returning the notice along with payment of the fine indicated thereon to the Municipal Court of 
City of Statesbor by the date indicated on the notice or by appearing in the Municipal Court to 
plead not guilty to the charged violation at the date and time provided on the notice. No 
proceedings for contempt or arrest shall be initiated for failure to appear on the return date on 
the notice.  

(5) Violators who fail to respond to a notice of ordinance violation as provided for in subsection (4) 
above may thereafter be served personally with an ordinance violation citation or accusation, 
and criminally prosecuted as provided for other ordinance violations 

(l) Section not exclusive. The infliction of a penalty under the provisions of this section shall not prevent 
the revocation of any permit or license or the taking of other punitive or remedial action where called 
for or permitted under the provisions of the Charter of the City of Statesboro.  

Sec. 42-6. - Fees. 



Page 8 

The fees for any license, permit, or certificate listed in this Chapter or for any other service provided by 

the Statesboro Fire Department shall initially be set by resolution, and then from time to time amended by 

Mayor and City Council by incorporating and amending the Schedule of Fines and Fees adopted by the 

Mayor and City Council.    

Sec. 42-7. - Construction Plans Approval. 

(a) It shall be unlawful to construct, erect, or alter any building, occupancy, premises or system 
regulated by this Chapter, which includes the fire codes identified in Section 42-2-3, or cause same 
to be done without construction documents approval by the fire chief or his designee for fire 
department accessibility, fire hydrant requirements, Life Safety Code requirements for assembly 
occupancies, and flammable and combustible liquid tank installations. Construction documents shall 
be in accordance with the requirements below:  

(1) Submittals. Construction documents shall be submitted in one or more sets and in such form 
and detail as required by the fire code official. The construction documents shall be prepared by 
a registered design professional where required by the statutes of the jurisdiction in which the 
project is to be constructed.  

(2) Information on construction documents. Construction documents shall be drawn to scale upon 
suitable material. Electronic media documents are allowed to be submitted when approved by 
the fire code official. Construction documents shall be of sufficient clarity to indicate the location, 
nature and extent of the work proposed and show in detail that it will conform to the provisions 
of this code and relevant laws, ordinances, rules and regulations as determined by the fire code 
official.  

(3) Applicant responsibility. It shall be the responsibility of the applicant to ensure that the 
construction documents include all of the fire protection requirements and that the shop 
drawings are complete and in compliance with the applicable codes and standards.  

(4) Technical assistance. The fire code official shall be permitted to require a review by an 
independent third party with expertise in the matter to be reviewed at the submitter's expense. 
The independent reviewer shall provide an evaluation and recommend necessary changes of 
the proposed design, operation, process, or new technology to the fire code official.  

(5) Engineering. The fire code official shall be authorized to require design submittals or plans to 
bear the stamp of a professional engineer. 

(b) Plan Compliance. The fire code official shall make the final determination as to whether the 
provisions of the fire codes have been met. 

(c) Approved documents. Construction documents approved by the fire code official are approved with 
the intent that such construction documents comply in all respects with the fire codes. Review and 
approval by the fire code official shall not relieve the applicant of the responsibility of compliance with 
the fire codes.  

(d) Corrected documents. Where field conditions necessitate any substantial change from the approved 
construction documents, the fire code official shall have the authority to require the corrected 
construction documents to be submitted for approval.  

(e) Retention of construction documents. One set of construction documents shall be retained by the fire 
code official until final approval of the work covered therein. One set of approved construction 
documents shall be returned to the applicant, and said set shall be kept on the site of the building or 
work at all times during which the work authorized thereby is in progress.  

(f) Occupancy prohibited before approval. The building or structure shall not be occupied prior to the fire 
code official issuing a permit or certificate that indicates that applicable provisions of the fire codes 
have been met.  



Page 9 

(g) Compliance with code. Approval of the construction plans shall not be construed to be a permit for, 
or an approval of, any violation of any of the provisions of the fire codes or of any other ordinance of 
the jurisdiction. Permits or approval presuming to give authority to violate or cancel the provisions of 
the fire codes or other ordinances of the jurisdiction shall not be valid. Approval based on 
construction documents and other data shall not prevent the fire code official from requiring the 
correction of errors in the construction documents and other data. Any addition to or alteration of 
approved construction documents shall be approved in advance by the fire code official, as 
evidenced by the issuance of a new or amended permit.  

(h) Inspections. Any application for or acceptance of, any permit or certificate, requested or issued 
pursuant to fire codes shall constitute agreement and consent by the person making the application 
or accepting the permit or certificate to allow the fire code official to enter the premises at any 
reasonable time to conduct inspections. Before a certificate or permit is approved, the fire code 
official is authorized to inspect the receptacles, vehicles, buildings, devices, premises, storage 
spaces or areas to be used to determine compliance with the fire codes or any operational 
constraints required.  

(i) Revocation. The fire code official is authorized to revoke a Certificate of Approval issued under the 
provisions of the fire codes when it is found by inspection or otherwise that there has been a false 
statement or misrepresentation as to the material facts in the application or construction documents 
on which the permit or approval was based including, but not limited to, any one of the following:  

(1) The certificate is used for a location or establishment other than that for which it was issued. 

(2) The certificate is used for a condition or activity other than that listed in the permit. 

(3) Conditions and limitations set forth in the certificate have been violated. 

(4) There have been any false statements or misrepresentations as to the material fact in the 
application or plans submitted or to obtain the certificate. 

(5) The certificate is used by a different person or firm than the name for which it was issued. 

(6) The holder of the certificate failed, refused or neglected to comply with orders or notices duly 
served in accordance with the provisions of the fire codes within the time provided therein, or to 
pay assessments for nuisance fire alarms as provided for in the Chapter.   

(7) The certificate was issued in error or in violation of an ordinance, regulation or the fire codes. 

Sec. 42-8. - Permits. 

(a) General. Permits required by this Chapter shall issue in accordance with this section. 

(b) Permits required. Permits required by this chapter shall be obtained from the fire code official. Permit 
fees shall be paid prior to issuance of the permit. Issued permits shall be kept on the premises 
designated therein at all times and shall be readily available for inspection by the fire code official.  

(c) Kinds of Permits Authorized.  The Fire Department shall be authorized to issue the following permits 
either as part of the construction plan approval process in Section 42-7, or on a case by case basis 
as needed. 

(1)  Fire Alarm System Permit 

(2)  Fire Pump Permit 

(3)  Hood Exhaust/Hood Suppression Permit 

(4)  Occupant Load Permit 

(5)  Sprinkler System Permit 

(6)  Standpipe System Permit 

(7)  Burn Permits 

(8)  Temporary consumer fireworks retail sales stand permits 



Page 10 

(9)  Any permit identified in the Fire Codes that are within the jurisdiction of the City of Statesboro 
and the Fire Department to issue. 

(10)  Any other permit established by Resolution of the Mayor and City Council after adoption of this 
ordinance deemed necessary for the administration and enforcement of the fire codes, or to address 
fire and life safety issues. 

(d) Permits for the same location. When more than one permit is required for the same location, the fire 
code official is authorized to consolidate such permits into a single permit provided that each 
provision is listed in the permit.  

(e) Application. Application for a permit required by this chapter shall be made to the fire code official in 
such form and detail as prescribed by the fire code official. Applications for permits shall be 
accompanied by such plans as prescribed by the fire code official.  

(f) Refusal to issue permit. If the application for a permit describes a use that does not conform to the 
requirements of this chapter and other pertinent laws and ordinances, the fire code official shall not 
issue a permit, but shall return the application to the applicant with the refusal to issue such permit. 
Such refusal shall, when requested, be in writing and shall contain the reasons for refusal.  

(g) Inspection authorized. Before a permit is approved, the fire code official is authorized to inspect the 
receptacles, vehicles, buildings, devices, premises, storage spaces or areas to be used to determine 
compliance with this code or any operational constraints required.  

(h) Time limitation of application. An application for a permit for any proposed work or operation shall be 
deemed to have been abandoned six months after the date of filing, unless such application has 
been diligently prosecuted or a permit shall have been issued; except that the fire code official is 
authorized to grant one or more extensions of time for additional periods not exceeding 90 days each 
if there is reasonable cause.  

(i) Action on application. The fire code official shall examine or cause to be examined applications for 
permits and amendments thereto within a reasonable time after filing. If the application or the 
construction documents do not conform to the requirements of pertinent laws, the fire code official 
shall reject such application in writing, stating the reasons therefor. If the fire code official is satisfied 
that the proposed work or operation conforms to the requirements of this chapter and laws and 
ordinances applicable thereto, the fire code official shall issue a permit therefore as soon as 
practicable.  

(j) Conditions of a permit. A permit shall constitute permission to maintain, store or handle materials; or 
to conduct processes which produce conditions hazardous to life or property; or to install equipment 
utilized in connection with such activities; or to install or modify any fire protection system or 
equipment or any other construction, equipment installation or modification in accordance with the 
provisions of this code where a permit is required by this chapter. Such permission shall not be 
construed as authority to violate, cancel or set aside any of the provisions of this chapter or other 
applicable regulations or laws of the jurisdiction.  

(k) Expiration. A permit shall remain in effect until reissued, renewed, or revoked or for such a period of 
time as specified in the permit. Construction permits shall automatically become invalid unless the 
work authorized by such permit is commenced within 180 days after its issuance, or if the work 
authorized by such permit is suspended or abandoned for a period of 180 days after the time the 
work is commenced. Before such work recommences, a new permit shall be first obtained and the 
fee to recommence work, if any, shall be one-half the amount required for a new permit for such 
work, provided no changes have been made or will be made in the original construction documents 
for such work, and provided further that such suspension or abandonment has not exceeded one 
year. Permits are not transferable, and any change in occupancy, operation, tenancy or ownership 
shall require that a new permit be issued.  

(l) Extensions. A permittee holding an unexpired permit shall have the right to apply for an extension of 
the time within which the permittee will commence work under that permit when work is unable to be 
commenced within the time required by this section for good and satisfactory reasons. The fire code 
official is authorized to grant, in writing, one or more extensions of the time period of a permit for 



Page 11 

periods of not more than 90 days each. Such extensions shall be requested by the permit holder in 
writing and justifiable cause demonstrated.  

(m) Occupancy prohibited before approval. The building or structure shall not be occupied prior to the fire 
code official issuing a permit that indicates that applicable provisions of this code have been met.  

(n) Conditional permits. Where permits are required and upon the request of a permit applicant, the fire 
code official is authorized to issue a conditional permit to occupy the premises or portion thereof 
before the entire work or operations on the premises is completed, provided that such portion or 
portions will be occupied safely prior to full completion or installation of equipment and operations 
without endangering life or public welfare. The fire code official shall notify the permit applicant in 
writing of any limitations or restrictions necessary to keep the permit area safe. The holder of a 
conditional permit shall proceed only to the point for which approval has been given, at the permit 
holder's own risk and without assurance that approval for the occupancy or the utilization of the 
entire premises, equipment or operations will be granted.  

(o) Posting the permit. Issued permits shall be kept on the premises designated therein at all times and 
shall be readily available for inspection by the fire code official. 

(p) Compliance with chapter. The issuance or granting of a permit shall not be construed to be a permit 
for, or an approval of, any violation of any of the provisions of this chapter or of any other ordinance 
of the jurisdiction. Permits presuming to give authority to violate or cancel the provisions of this 
chapter or other ordinances of the jurisdiction shall not be valid. The issuance of a permit based on 
construction documents and other data shall not prevent the fire code official from requiring the 
correction of errors in the construction documents and other data. Any addition to or alteration of 
approved construction documents shall be approved in advance by the fire code official, as 
evidenced by the issuance of a new or amended permit.  

(q) Information on the permit. The fire code official shall issue all permits required by this chapter on an 
approved form furnished for that purpose. The permit shall contain a general description of the 
operation or occupancy and its location and any other information required by the fire code official. 
Issued permits shall bear the signature of the fire code official or other approved legal authorization.  

(r) Revocation. The fire code official is authorized to revoke a permit issued under the provisions of this 
chapter when it is found by inspection or otherwise that there has been a false statement or 
misrepresentation as to the material facts in the application or construction documents on which the 
permit or approval was based including, but not limited to, any one of the following:  

(1) The permit is used for a location or establishment other than that for which it was issued. 

(2) The permit is used for a condition or activity other than that listed in the permit. 

(3) Conditions and limitations set forth in the permit have been violated. 

(4) There have been any false statements or misrepresentations as to the material fact in the 
application for permit or plans submitted or a condition of the permit. 

(5) The permit is used by a different person or firm than the name for which it was issued. 

(6) The permittee failed, refused or neglected to comply with orders or notices duly served in 
accordance with the provisions of this code within the time provided therein, or has failed to pay 
assessements of nuisance fire alarm fees. 

(7) The permit was issued in error or in violation of an ordinance, regulation or this code. 

Sec. 42-9. - Hazardous materials response cost recovery. 

(a) Purpose. The purpose of this section is to establish uniform criteria for recovering costs associated 
with the emergency response of the Fire Department to hazardous materials incidents. 

(b) Definitions. For the purposes of this section, the following words or phrases shall have the meanings 
below: 



Page 12 

Extra hazardous materials incident means a hazardous materials response that requires more 
apparatus, personnel, equipment, and/or supplies than was dispatched upon the initial response, and 
which extends for a period of less than three hours in duration.  

Hazardous materials incident means a release or spill of any material considered to be dangerous to 
the general public or the environment (as defined by the Environmental Protection Agency, Georgia 
Department of Natural Resources, Georgia Fire Prevention Code).  

Major hazardous materials incident means a hazardous materials response that requires more 
apparatus, personnel, equipment, and/or supplies than was dispatched upon the initial response, and 
which extends for a period of three hours or more in duration.  

Routine hazardous materials incident means a hazardous materials response that requires no more 
apparatus, personnel, equipment and/or supplies than was dispatched upon the initial response, and 
which extends for a period of less than three hours in duration.  

(c) Policy. 

(1) The City of Statesboro recognizes the need for emergency hazardous materials response within 
the jurisdictional limits of the City of Statesboro, and in all jurisdictions with whom the City of 
Statesboro has a valid intergovernmental agreement for the provision of fire protection services. 
Therefore, no person or agency requiring an emergency hazardous materials response shall be 
denied those services due to a lack of insurance coverage or the inability to pay for those 
services.  

(2) The City of Statesboro provides emergency hazardous materials response only, and does not 
act as a cleanup contractor, and does not provide cleanup or disposal services. 

(3) Any applicable services rendered to a person, entity or agency shall be billed to that person, 
entity or agency. 

(4) The fire chief, in his sole discretion, may waive reimbursement in instances where only minimal 
response services were required. 

(5) Other emergency response agencies assisting the Fire Department may submit their list of 
expenses to Fire Department for inclusion in the bill submitted to the responsible person, entity 
or agency. Neither City of Statesboro, nor its fire department, shall accept any liability for 
payment of such costs incurred by other emergency response agencies.  

(d) Procedure for billing services. 

(1) A detailed listing of hazardous materials response services provided to persons, entities and/or 
agencies will be compiled by the Fire Department. This information shall be forwarded to the 
Finance Department, which shall be responsible for the billing. This information shall include:  

a. Name and address of the owner, lessee, occupant and/or responsible party(s);

b. Date, time and location of incident;

c. Fire incident report number;

d. Description of services rendered;

e. Itemized list of costs.

(2) The applicable charges for services shall be determined by reference to the following: 

a. Response to a routine hazardous materials incident: A routine hazardous materials
response shall have standardized recovery costs. Recovery cost charges shall begin upon
arrival of the first responding fire department unit(s), and shall include, but not limited to:

1. Loss, consumption, repair, and decontamination of equipment, vehicles, instruments,
clothing, supplies and other items, at actual cost;

2. Miscellaneous expenses, at actual cost;



Page 13 

3. A charge for billing and processing of two percent of total costs.

b. Response to an extra hazardous materials incident: An extra hazardous materials
response shall have standardized recovery costs. Recovery cost charges shall begin upon
arrival of the first responding fire department unit(s), and shall include, but not limited to:

1. Hazardous materials responders, at actual hourly rate per hour, per person for on-
duty response and actual over-time rates per hour for off-duty response;

2. Cost for loss, consumption, repair, and decontamination of equipment, vehicles,
instruments, clothing, supplies and other items, at actual cost;

3. Subsistence supplies, at actual cost;

4. Miscellaneous expenses, at actual cost;

5. A charge for billing and processing of two percent of total costs.

c. Response to a major hazardous materials incident: A major hazardous materials response
shall have standardized recovery costs. Recovery cost charges for items 1. through 6.
below shall begin upon arrival of the first responding fire department unit, and shall include,
but not limited to:

1. Hazardous materials responders, at actual hourly rate per hour, per person for on-
duty response and actual over-time rates per hour for off-duty response;

2. Hazardous materials command staff, at actual hourly rate per hour, per person for on-
duty response and actual over-time rates per hour for off-duty response;

3. Cost for loss, consumption, repair and decontamination of equipment, vehicles,
instruments, clothing, supplies and other items, at actual replacement cost;

4. Subsistence supplies, at actual cost;

5. Miscellaneous expenses, at actual cost;

6. A charge for billing and processing of 2 percent of total costs.

Additional recovery cost charges shall begin after the third hour of on-scene operation 
(continuous operation is not required) and shall include, but not limited to:  

7. Each fire engine, ladder truck, rescue unit, hazardous materials unit and other
equipment and apparatus needed in the response shall be charged based on the
Federal Emergency Management Agency Schedule of Equipment Rates for like or
similar equipment.

(3) All funds received from persons, entities or agencies that have been billed for services will be 
placed in an account designated for personnel costs, decontamination, repair, replacement and 
purchase of items of both durable and consumable categories for the Hazardous Materials 
Program of the Department.  

Sec. 42-10. – Posting of Address 

(1) The intent and purpose of this section is to establish methods and practices that can be employed 
by the Statesboro Fire Department to insure that a location can be located from the street by the 
Statesboro Fire Department when responding to emergency calls. 

(2) All owners and occupants of real property lying within the City of Statesboro shall post the 
address of such real property owned or occupied by them with the street address assigned to 
such property by the 911 Communications Center, in such manner that said address is clearly 
visible and legible from the street on such property fronts. 

(2) In order to carry out the purpose and intent of this section, the Fire Code Official is authorized to 
make and enforce rules and supplemental regulations establishing specific requirements 



Page 14 

regarding the posting of addresses so the address is clearly visible from the street. The rules and 
supplemental regulations adopted by the Fire Code Official shall be kept on file with the Fire Chief 
for review by the public during the regular business hours at the Headquarters Building of the 
Statesboro Fire Department.   

(3) Appeals of Administrative Decisions to the Fire Chief.  Whenever the Fire Code Official imposes 
rules and supplemental regulations establishing specific requirements regarding the method and 
manner by which addresses must be posted so the address is clearly visible and legible from the 
street that fronts the property, and when it is claimed that the provisions of the Section do not 
apply, or that the true intent and meaning of the this Section have been misconstrued, wrongly 
interpreted, or unreasonably applied the affected party may appeal in writing to the Fire Chief, or 
his designee within five days of the Fire Code Officials decision. The Fire Chief shall respond in 
writing within ten days. The decision of the Fire Chief is final and may be appealed to the 
Superior Court as by a petition for a writ of certiorari. 

(4) Violation of any rule or supplemental regulation adopted by the Fire Code Official to carry out the 
application and intent of the above provisions shall constitute a violation of this Chapter 

Sec. 42-11. – Emergency Services Repository Unit and Secured Access 

(1) The intent and purpose of this section is to establish methods and practices that can be employed by 
the Statesboro Fire Department to insure prompt and immediate access to any building, structure, or 
occupancy during an emergency involving the protection of life or property through the use of 
repository units and security access controls.    

(2) All repository units and security access controls shall be of the Knox manufacture brand, and shall 
situated in a location proscribed by the Fire Code Official to insure prompt and immediate access to 
any building, structure, or occupancy during an emergency involving the protection of life or property. 

(3) The Fire Code Official is authorized to make and enforce rules and supplemental regulations 
establishing specific requirements regarding repository units and security access controls so as to 
insure prompt and immediate access to any building, structure, or occupancy during an emergency 
involving the protection of life or property.   These rules and supplemental regulations adopted by the 
Fire Code Official shall be kept on file with the Fire Chief for review by the public during the regular 
business hours at the Headquarters Building of the Statesboro Fire Department.   

(4) Appeals of Administrative Decisions to the Fire Chief. Whenever the Fire Code Official imposes rules 
and supplemental regulations establishing specific requirements regarding repository units and 
security access controls, and when it is claimed that the provisions of the Section do not apply, or that 
the true intent and meaning of the this Section have been misconstrued, wrongly interpreted, or 
unreasonably applied the affected party may appeal in writing to the Fire Chief, or his designee within 
five days of the Fire Code Officials decision. The Fire Chief shall respond in writing within ten days. 
The decision of the Fire Chief is final and may be appealed to the Superior Court as by a petition for a 
writ of certiorari. 

(5) Violation of any rule or supplemental regulation adopted by the Fire Code Official to carry out the 
application and intent of the above provisions shall constitute a violation of this Chapter 

Sec. 42-12. FIREWORKS 

(1) The sale, both retail and wholesale, the use, possession, manufacturing, transportation and storage 
of consumer grade fireworks is governed by Chapter 10 of Title 25 of the Official Code of Georgia. 

(2) In order for consumer fireworks to be sold at a permanent consumer fireworks retail sales 
facility, a distributor must have a state license issued by the Safety Fire Commissioner. 



Page 15 

(3) In order for consumer fireworks to be sold at a temporary consumer fireworks retail sales stand, a 
distributor must have a permit issued by Fire Department pursuant to the requirements of Chapter 10 
of Title 25 of the Official Code of Georgia.   

Sec. 42-13. Open Air Burning 

(1) Generally. No person shall cause, suffer, allow or permit open air burning in any area of the City of 
Statesboro without a burn permit issued by the Statesboro Fire Department except: 

(a) Fires set for the purpose of training firefighting personnel of the city's fire department, or for the 
purpose of teaching fire safety techniques to industrial fire brigades or civilians who reside or 
work within the City of Statesboro or its recognized service areas, provided that city fire 
department personnel are conducting such training; 

(b) Operation of devices using open flames such as candles, lanterns, tar kettles, blowtorches, 
welding torches, portable heaters, and other flame-making equipment where approved safety 
measures are used. 

(c) Cooking fires, charcoal barbecues and recreational fires lit in chimineas, fire pits, fire bowls and 
similar free-standing devices that only burn wood, in its natural state, can be burned in these 
devices. Recreational fires cannot be performed within 25’ of any combustible construction or 
heavy vegetation.   

(2) Burn Permits. Applications for Burns Permits shall be made on a form prescribed by the Fire Official.  
Upon review of the application, the Fire Official shall determine the nature of the proposed open air 
burning, and whether the proposed open air burning can be conducted in manner so as not pose a 
threat to life or property.  The Fire Official shall have authority to impose conditions on the grant of the 
burn permit to sufficiently limit threats to life or property as well as insure compliance with the fire 
codes, and other applicable state law.  If the Fire Code Official finds that no conditions can 
reasonably be imposed on the grant of the burn permit that sufficiently limits threats to life or property 
as well as insuring compliance with the fire codes and other applicable state law, the Fire Official shall 
deny the Burn Permit.  Violation of the conditions placed on the burn permit shall be a violation of this 
Chapter. 

(3) Appeals of Administrative Decisions to the Fire Chief. Whenever the Fire Official imposes conditions 
on a burn permit, or denies a permit as provided above, and when it is claimed by the affected party 
that the provisions of the Section do not apply, or that the conditions imposed are unreasonable, or 
the denial unjustified the affected party may appeal in writing to the Fire Chief, or his designee within 
five days of the Fire Code Officials decision. The Fire Chief shall respond in writing within ten days. 
The decision of the Fire Chief is final and may be appealed to the Superior Court by a petition for a 
writ of certiorari. 

First Reading: November 15, 2016
Second Reading: December 6, 2016

____________________________
Jan J. Moore, Mayor

____________________________
Sue Starling, City Clerk















































































 

Purchasing 

 

Memo 
 
 
TO:  Randy Wetmore, City Manager 
  Robert Cheshire, Deputy City Manager 
  
FROM: Darren Prather, Central Services Director 
 
DATE: 11-28-2016 
 
Re:  Recommendation—Bid Award/Tractor—PW/Streets Div. 
 
The City of Statesboro solicited sealed bids for the purchase of a tractor to be utilized by the Streets 
Division of Public Works to maintain roadways. This item is budgeted under CIP# ENG-STS-111 in the 
amount of $45,000.00 and is funded by the GMA Lease Pool with payments from the general fund. This 
purchase would be for a Case IH Farmall 75C Cab Tractor in the amount of $36,500.00. Since this is a 
local company and the lowest submitted bid, the local preference purchasing ordinance (Section 2.2.7) does 
not need to be applied.  
The submitted sealed bids were as follows: 
 
 Dealer/Model    Bid Amount 
 

1. AimTrac / Case IH Farmall 75C Cab $36,500.00 
2. Blanchard / John Deere 5075E  $38,900.00 
3. JCB / Massey Ferguson 4607M  $39,490.00 

 
We recommend the purchase be awarded to AimTrac in the amount of $36,500.00 for the purchase of a 
Case IH Farmall 75C Cab tractor as they have submitted the lowest responsive bid. 
 
 
  
 



 

 

P.O. Box 348                                                                                                                                  Phone: 912.764.0655                         
Statesboro, GA 30459                                                                                                                    Fax: 912.764.0664 

engineering@statesboroga.gov 

City of Statesboro 

Office of City Engineer 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
To: Robert Cheshire, P.E., Deputy City Manager 
From: Brad Deal, P.E., City Engineer 
Re: Applications for Banner Attachments for Blue Mile  
Date: November 29, 2016 
 
Attached are a Governmental Pole Attachment License Agreement with Georgia Power Company and a 
Special Encroachment Permit Application for the Georgia Department of Transportation (GDOT) which 
both must be executed for the City to be permitted to attach “Blue Mile” banners to utility poles owned 
by Georgia Power and in the GDOT right of way along the west side of South Main Street from West 
Vine Street to Tillman Road. Both agreements stipulate that the City will be responsible for installation 
and maintenance of the banners. The agreement with Georgia Power also requires the City to procure 
and maintain insurance coverage for the banners. 

The City Streets Division has the appropriate personnel and equipment to install and maintain the 
banners. Darren Prather, Director of Central Services, has reviewed and does not see any issues with the 
insurance requirements. 

 
CC: Jason Boyles, Director of Public Works and Engineering 
       Randy Wetmore, City Manager 
       Darren Prather, Director of Central Services 
       J. Alvin Leaphart, IV, City Attorney 
       Robert Seamans, Streets and Parks Superintendent 

 

Attachments:  Cover Letter from Georgia Power, Georgia Power Company Governmental Pole 
Attachment License Agreement, GDOT Special Encroachment Permit Application 





























































 
 
 

RESOLUTION 2016-42: A RESOLUTION AMENDING THE RULES AND REGULATIONS 
GOVERNING WATER AND SEWER UTILITY BILLING PROCEDURES 

 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council have previously adopted an Ordinance 2015-04 
governing  billing adjustments to water and sewer accounts;  
 
WHEREAS, Section 82-70(d) of this ordinance provided that billing adjustments shall be 
governed by the water and sewer billing procedures that were attached as Exhibit A of Ordinance 
2015-04;   
 
WHEREAS, Section 82-70(d) of this ordinance further provides that the above referenced water 
and sewer billing procedures may be amended from time to time by resolution of the Mayor and 
City Council; 
 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council finds sufficient reason exists to amend the water and 
sewer billing procedures provided for in Section 82-70(d) of the Code of Ordinances of the City 
of Statesboro. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 
Statesboro, Georgia, in regular session assembled as follows: 
 
Section 1.   The water and sewer and billing procedures provided for in Section 82-70(d) of the 
Code of Ordinances of the City of Statesboro are hereby amended in their entirety and replaced 
with the document attached as Exhibit A to this resolution. 
 
Section 2.   Pursuant to Section 82-70(d) of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Statesboro this 
resolution and the water and sewer billing procedures shall be kept on file with the City Clerk for 
review by the public during regular business hours of City Hall. 
 
Section3.    This Resolution shall be and remain in full forces and effect from and after its date of 
adoption. 
 
Passed and adopted this ____ day of December 6th, 2016. 
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
                                                                                                   BY: ________________________ 
                                                                                                                  Jan J. Moore, Mayor 
 
                                                                                               
                                                                                               ATTEST: ______________________ 
                                                                                                                 Sue Starling, City Clerk 
 



 
 

1 
 

 
 

 
ATTACHMENT "A" 

TO RESOLUTION NO. 2016-42 
ADMINISTRATION OF WATER AND SEWER BILLING PROCEDURES- 

 
1 PURPOSE AND SCOPE 

 
 
1.1 PURPOSE 
 
The purpose of this Section is to provide for the procedures for the adjustment of water and 
sewer bills.  All exemptions or adjustments to water and sewer bills shall be made pursuant to 
these administrative procedures. 
 
1.2 EXEMPTIONS FROM TERMINATION OF SERVICE DUE TO HARDSHIP; 
WAIVER OF LATE FEES, COLLECTION FEES AND DEPOSITS  
 
1.2.1: In cases of hardship the City Clerk is authorized to grant an exception from termination of 
service provided for in Section 82-70(b) of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Statesboro, and 
set up a payment plan whereby the account shall be brought current within three (3) consecutive 
billing cycles.  Such a payment plan can only be entered into once in a 24-month period. Failure 
to meet any term of the payment plan shall terminate the payment plan, and the services shall be 
terminated. 
 
1.2.2:   In cases of hardship the City Clerk is not authorized to waive the assessment of late 
payment charges and/or collection fees provided for in Section 82-70(b) of the Code of 
Ordinances of the City of Statesboro. 
 
1.2.3:  The City Clerk shall not have authority to grant a hardship exemption from the 
termination of service for longer than three (3) consecutive billing cycles. 
 
1.2.4:  In cases of hardship where the customer cannot bring the bill current within three (3) 
consecutive billing cycles, upon recommendation by the City Clerk, the City Manager is 
authorized to set up a payment plan whereby the account shall be brought current within six (6) 
consecutive billing cycles.  Such a payment plan can only be entered into once in a 24-month 
period. Failure to meet any term of the payment plan shall terminate the payment plan, and the 
services shall be terminated. 
 
1.2.5:  In cases of hardship the City Manager is not authorized to waive the assessment of late 
payment charges and/or collection fees provided for in Section 82-70(b) of the Code of 
Ordinances of the City of Statesboro. 
 
   



 
 

2 
 

1.3 BILLING ADJUSTMENTS DUE TO WATER LEAKS 
 
1.3.1:  The customer is responsible for promptly discovering and making any necessary repairs to 
stop the loss of water. The City has no obligation to adjust accounts when the water has been 
metered properly.  However, the City wants to encourage customers to make prompt and 
permanent repairs. 
  
1.3.2:  The City Clerk shall have the authority to issue a credit adjustment to the water and/or 
sewer account of a residential customer who has experienced the loss of metered water beyond 
the customer's normal and reasonable control as below provided. 
 
1.3.3:  For leaks where the lost water did not return to the sewer system, credit adjustments by 
City Clerk shall be made in the following manner:  the sewer charge shall be reduced to the 
average of the three (3) previous month’s sewer charge excluding the month(s) of excessive 
water consumption. 
   
1.3.4:  For leaks where the lost water did enter the sewer system, only one credit adjustment can 
be made in any 24 month period.  Credit adjustments by the City Clerk shall be made as follows:  
to reduce the water charge the City Clerk shall use the average of the three (3) previous month’s 
water consumption excluding the month(s) of excessive water consumption.  The customer shall 
pay the base rate, the three month average, plus one-half of the water loss.  The sewer charge 
shall not be reduced.   
 
1.3.5:  For leaks on water only accounts, only one credit adjustment can be made in any 24 month 
period.  Credit Adjustments by the City Clerk shall be made as follows:  the City Clerk shall use 
the average of the three (3) previous month’s water consumption excluding the month(s) of 
excessive water consumption.  The customer shall pay the base rate, the three month average plus 
one-half of the water loss. 
 
1.3.6:  There shall be no billing adjustments for water loss given to any residential account that 
has one meter serving more than one residence.  However, upon verification by Department of 
Water and Wastewater that the lost water did not enter the sewer system an adjustment may be 
made pursuant to Section 1.3.3 above. 
 
1.3.7:  There shall be no billing adjustments for leaks given for water billed through an irrigation 
meter. 
 
1.3.8:   There shall be no billing adjustments for water loss given to any commercial, industrial, 
or governmental account.  However, upon verification by Department of Water and Wastewater 
that the lost water did not enter the sewer system an adjustment may be made pursuant to Section 
1.3.3 above. 
 
1.4.   SWIMMING POOLS 
 
1.4.1      No adjustments shall be made for water used in a swimming pool. 



 
 

3 
 

 
 
1.5   BILLING ADJUSTMENTS NECESSARY TO AVOID A MANIFEST INJUSTICE 
TO THE CUSTOMER OR UNJUST ENRICHMENT TO THE CITY 
 
1.5.1:  The City recognizes that these administrative procedures cannot provide for every 
possible circumstance for which a billing adjustment would be necessary to avoid manifest 
injustice to the customer or unjust enrichment to the City.  As such appropriate discretion to 
make billing adjustments must vest in City staff, subject to review and approval by the City 
Manager.  
 
1.5.2:  If in the opinion of the City Clerk a billing adjustment is necessary to avoid manifest 
injustice to the customer or unjust enrichment to the City, the City Clerk shall recommend an 
appropriate billing adjustment to the City Manager.   
 
1.5.3:  The City Manager, upon review and investigation of the City Clerk’s recommendation 
shall have authority to accept, reject or modify the terms of the billing adjustment recommended 
by the City Clerk. 
 
1.6  EXEMPTIONS FROM TERMINATION OF SERVICE, WAIVER OF LATE FEES, 
COLLECTION FEES FOR AN EXEMPLARY PAYMENT HISTORY 
 
1.6.1:   If a residential account holder has never been late on payment of their water and sewer 
bill, never had a check returned and otherwise had an exemplary payment history for SIXTY (60) 
consecutive billing cycles, the City Clerk may exempt the account from termination of services, 
and waive all late fees and collection fees. 
 
1.6.2:  Upon the grant of the above exemption, the City Clerk may not grant another exemption 
pursuant to Section 1.6.1 to that residential account holder unless that residential account holder 
is not late on payment of their water and sewer bill, never has a check returned and otherwise has 
an exemplary payment history for SIXTY (60) consecutive billing cycles subsequent to the date 
of the last exemption granted pursuant to Section 1.6.1.   
 
1.6.3:  No exemption under Section 1.6 shall be granted to a commercial, industrial, or 
governmental account. 
 
1.7   EXEMPTIONS FROM COLLECTION FEES AND DEPOSIT REQUIREMENT 
 
1.7.1:  The City recognizes that there exist charitable organizations in the community that, from 
time to time, assist households in meeting their basic needs through payment of water and sewer 
bills. 
 
1.7.2. If a water or sewer bill is paid in full by one of the below listed organizations then the City 
Clerk of his or her designee is authorized to waive any collection fee or deposit requirement. 
 



 
 

4 
 

1.7.3. Payment by the following organization shall qualify for this exemption:  Area Christians 
Together in Service (ACTS), Concerted Services, Christian Social Ministries, and Easter Seals. 
 
   
1.8 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
 
1.8.1:  No employee of the City of Statesboro or a member of the employee’s household or 
immediate family shall be granted an exemption or adjustment, as provided above, to their water 
or sewer bill without the written consent of the City Manager. 
 
1.8.2:  No appointed official of the City of Statesboro, e.g. the City Manager, the City Clerk, the 
City Attorney, and the Municipal Court Judge, or a member of the appointed official’s household 
or immediate family shall be granted an exemption or adjustment, as provided above, to their 
water or sewer bill without the written consent of the Mayor.    
 
1.8.3: No elected official of the City of Statesboro or a member of the elected official’s 
household or immediate family shall be granted an exemption or adjustment, as provided above, 
to their water or sewer bill without the written consent of two (2) other elected officials. 
 
  
1.9: SEVERABILITY 
 
If any section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrase of these administrative procedures are for 
any reason held to be unlawful or unconstitutional, such decision shall not affect the validity of 
the remaining portions of these administrative procedures. 
 
 
 





RESOLUTION 2016-43 

APPOINTING CARLOS C. BROWN, JR TO THE STATESBORO PLANNING COMMISSION 

WHEREAS, Section 2- 67 of Chapter 2 of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances states that the membership of 
the Statesboro Planning Commission shall consist of seven members who shall be appointed by the governing 
body. The appointment of members of the planning commission upon the effective date of this division shall 
be as follows: 

(1) Posts 1, 3, 5, and 7 shall be appointed for terms of two years. 
(2) Posts 2, 4, and 6 shall be appointed for terms of four years. 

 

Each successor appointed to the planning commission thereafter shall be appointed for a term of four years,  
may be appointed to two successive terms; and 

WHEREAS, Carlos Brown, Jr. has made application for volunteer service to the Statesboro Planning 
Commission to the City of Statesboro; and 

WHEREAS, there is currently a vacancy in Post 4; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council desire to exercise the appointment power provided above; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council agree and affirm that Mr. Brown meets the qualifications of the City of 
Statesboro for service on the Statesboro Planning Commission and that Mr. Brown has both the knowledge 
and the character that that will be beneficial to the Statesboro Planning Commission in discharging its 
responsibilities; 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Statesboro, Georgia as 
follows: 

Section 1. That Carlos C. Brown, Jr is hereby appointed to the Statesboro Planning Commission for a four (4) 
year term. 

Section 2.  That this Resolution shall be and remain effective from and after its date of adoption. 

Adopted this ___ day of November, 2016. 

 
______________________________ 
Jan J. Moore, Mayor 
 

Attested by: 
________________________ 
Sue Starling, City Clerk 



RESOLUTION 2016-44 

APPOINTING MARY FOREMAN TO THE STATESBORO PLANNING COMMISSION 

WHEREAS, Section 2- 67 of Chapter 2 of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances states that the membership of 
the Statesboro Planning Commission shall consist of seven members who shall be appointed by the governing 
body. The appointment of members of the planning commission upon the effective date of this division shall 
be as follows: 

(1) Posts 1, 3, 5, and 7 shall be appointed for terms of two years. 
(2) Posts 2, 4, and 6 shall be appointed for terms of four years. 

 

Each successor appointed to the planning commission thereafter shall be appointed for a term of four years,  
may be appointed to two successive terms; and 

WHEREAS, Mary Foreman has made application for volunteer service to the Statesboro Planning Commission 
to the City of Statesboro; and 

WHEREAS, there is currently a vacancy in Post 6; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council desire to exercise the appointment power provided above; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council agree and affirm that Ms. Foreman meets the qualifications of the City 
of Statesboro for service on the Statesboro Planning Commission and that Ms. Foreman has both the 
knowledge and the character that that will be beneficial to the Statesboro Planning Commission in 
discharging its responsibilities; 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Statesboro, Georgia as 
follows: 

Section 1. That Mary Foreman is hereby appointed to the Statesboro Planning Commission for a four (4) year 
term. 

Section 2.  That this Resolution shall be and remain effective from and after its date of adoption. 

Adopted this ___ day of December, 2016. 

 
______________________________ 
Jan J. Moore, Mayor 
 

Attested by: 
________________________ 
Sue Starling, City Clerk 



EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 

 

GEORGIA, BULLOCH COUNTY. 

 

This agreement entered into this _____ day of December, 2016 by and between 
the MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF STATESBORO, a municipal corporation, its 
assigns and successors, hereinafter known as the “City”, and I. CAIN SMITH, his 
heirs, assigns and successors, hereinafter known as “Employee”. 

WITNESSETH: 

 Whereas, the Charter of the City of Statesboro provides for the 
appointment of a City Attorney, and the current City Attorney, J. Alvin Leaphart, 
IV has provided notices of his intent to resign as of December 31, 2016: 

 Whereas, the City wishes to contract with an Interim City Attorney before 
a final decision is made on a permanently filling the position; 

 Whereas, Employee is a practicing attorney and is desirous of fulfilling the 
duties of the office of the City Attorney on an interim basis; 

 NOW THEREFORE, both parties covenant and agree as follows: 

 

SECTTION 1. DUTIES 

Employee covenants and agrees to act as the City Attorney on an interim basis 
and shall represent the Mayor and Council as the governing body of the 
municipal corporation of the City of Statesboro.  In so doing, the City Attorney 
shall act as the general counsel of the municipal corporation of the City of 
Statesboro.  The City Attorney’s fundamental duty is to advance and protect 
the legal interests of the municipal corporation of the City of Statesboro.  
Particular duties shall include, but are not limited to, representing the City in 
litigation; drafting and reviewing legal instruments that concern the rights and 
obligations of the city; providing legal counsel and legal opinion on matters 
relevant to the City, and supervising and working with outside counsel who 
represent the City. 

 

 

 



SECTION 2. TERM 

A.  This agreement shall remain in full force and effect from December 15, 2016 
until June 30, 2017 unless terminated by either party subject to any provisions 
contained herein. 

B.  All parties acknowledge the Employee is an appointed official and serves at 
the pleasure of the Mayor and City Council, and that the Mayor and City 
Council may terminate that appointment as well as this Employment Agreement 
at will, without liability at any time with or without cause. 

C.  The City and Employee will review the performance and effectiveness of the 
arrangement during the month of March in 2017. 

D.  Nothing in this agreement shall prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with the 
right of the Employee to resign at any time from his position with the City, subject 
to the provision set forth in Section 2(E) of this agreement. 

E.  In the event the Employee voluntarily resigns his position with the City then the 
Employee shall give the City Fourteen (14) days written notice in advance, 
unless the parties otherwise agree. 

SECTION 3.  COMPENSATON 

A.  As compensation for acting as the City Attorney during the term of this 
agreement, Employee shall be paid a total of $39,000, payable in installments at 
the same time as other employees of the City are paid. 

SECTION 4.  Hours of Work 

It is expected that the Employee will work an average of between 20 and 30 
hours per week on city matters.  Employer acknowledges that, as provided 
below, that the Employee will also maintain a private law practice and, as such, 
will, from time to time be unavailable during regular working hours.  The 
Employee, in consultation with the City Manager, will work to be reasonably 
available to fulfill the job requirements.  The Employee shall keep the Mayor and 
City Council as well as the City Manager aware of his schedule. 

SECTION 5.  OFFICE SPACE, ADMINISTRATIVE SUPPORT FUNDING 

The Employer shall provide sufficient office space within City Hall as well as 
funding and administrative support to the City Attorney to carry out the duties of 
the position.  Said funding and administrative support shall be provided through 
the yearly budgeting process which shall fund a legal department within the 
City government. 



 

SECTION 6.  DUES, SUBSCRIPTIONS, AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT 

A.  City agrees to pay the subscription fee to a comprehensive legal research 
data base such as Lexis or Westlaw, conference expenses incurred by the 
Employee in conjunction with the Employee’s duties, not to exceed the 
budgeted amount and subject to prior budgetary approval of the Mayor and 
City Council. 

B.  The City agrees to pay for travel an subsistence expenses for the Employee 
for the professional and official travel, meetings and occasions adequate to 
continue the professional development of the Employee and to adequately 
pursue necessary official and other functions of the City, not to exceed 
budgetary restrictions and subject to prior budgetary approval by the Mayor 
and City Council.  Mileage shall be paid when the employee is required to drive 
his own vehicle. 

SECTION 7.  ROLE AS CITY SOLICITOR 

The employer recognizes that the role of the City Solicitor and City Attorney are 
two distinct positions, and that the City Solicitor does not have an attorney-client 
relationship with City, its officials, agents or employees.  The employer recognizes 
that the City Attorney position and City Solicitor have distinct and separate 
duties under the laws of the State of Georgia, as well as the Rules of Professional 
Conduct that govern the practice of the law in Georgia.  The employer further 
recognizes the need for an Assistant City Solicitor to manager the day to day 
affairs of the cases in Municipal Court as well as administer the Pre-Trial Diversion 
Program created under the Office of Solicitor for the City of Statesboro.  
Employer agrees that an Assistant Solicitor shall be appointed and 
compensated at a reasonable rate for the professional services rendered should 
the Employer choose to appoint the Employee as City Solicitor. 

SECTION 8.  PRIVATE PRACTICE OF LAW ALLOWED 

Employee shall be allowed to practice law privately as long as there is not 
conflict of interest, as provided for in Georgia Rules of Professional Conduct as 
adopted and enforced by the State Bar of Georgia, between his private 
practice of law and his representation of the City.  In balancing his obligations 
as City Attorney with his obligations as a private attorney, Employee is governed 
by Comment 2 of the Georgia Rule of Professional Conduct regarding the 
diligence required for the practice of law which states that “A lawyer’s work 
load should be controlled so that each matter can be handled competently.”  
Rule 1.3, GA Rules of Professional Conduct, Comment 2.  



 

SECTION 9.  HOLD HARMLESS AND INDEMNIFICATION 

The City recognizes that Employee is an agent of the City of Statesboro and that 
in the performance of Employee’s duties and as an agent of the City, the City 
shall defend, and hold harmless and indemnify Employee from all claims, 
demands and liabilities arising directly or indirectly from Employee’s service as 
an agent and employee of the city.  This status an indemnification shall continue 
after Employee’s term of employment for any and all actions or event which 
occurred during Employee’s employment.  Employee shall be covered by the 
City’s general liability insurance and other insurance policies in all areas in which 
he is acting as an agent and employee of the City of Statesboro and any 
judgement or claim not covered by insurance concerning the agency and 
employment of Employee will be paid by the City of Statesboro. 

SECTION 10.  CONTINUING DUTY OF OPERATIONS 

At the termination of the employment relationship between the parties, 
Employee expressly agrees to cooperate with an assist any newly appointed 
City Attorney during the period of transition at an hourly rate of pay equivalent 
to Employee’s last salary level. 

SECTION 11.  MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

A.  The Mayor and City Council reserve the right to fix any other reasonable 
terms and conditions of employment as it may determine from time to time 
relating to the performance of Employee provided that such terms and 
conditions are not inconsistent with or in conflict with other provisions of this 
Agreement, the City Charter or the Code of Ordinances. 

B.  In any provisions or portion of this Agreement is held to be invalid or 
unenforceable for any reason, the remainder of this Agreement or portion 
thereof shall be severable and shall remain in full force an effect. 

IN WITNESS WHEREFORE, all parties hereto have affixes their hands and seals the 
day and year above written. 

 

 

 

 

 



      Mayor and City Council of Statesboro 

 

_____________________________            By: ________________________________ 

I. Cain Smith          Jan J. Moore 

           Mayor, City of Statesboro 

 

                       Attest: ______________________________ 

               Sue Starling 

               City Clerk, City of Statesboro   
    



 

Ordinance 2016-_____: An Ordinance Amending Chapter 6 of the Statesboro Code 
of Ordinances (Alcoholic Beverages) 

 
WHEREAS, the City has previously adopted an ordinance regulating alcoholic beverages; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council has determined there is sufficient reason and need to 
amend Chapter 6 (Alcoholic Beverages) of the Code of Ordinances, City of Statesboro, Georgia; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the public hearing that preceded the adoption of the ordinance amendment was 
advertised; and 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Statesboro, 
Georgia, in regular session assembled as follows: 
 
Chapter 6 Alcoholic Beverages, Sec. 6-7 of the Code of Ordinances, City of Statesboro, Georgia 
is hereby amended and shall read as follows:  
 

A. Amend the existing Section 6-4(a) to strike and include following language: 
Sec. 6-5. - Application procedure; contents of application; contents to be furnished under 
oath. 
 
(a) Generally. The applicant for a license or permit under this chapter shall make a written 
application under oath on the form as proscribed by the City Clerk or his or her designated 
representative. A floor plan for each licensed premise as defined herein must be submitted with 
each application for a license under this chapter. At the time of initial application, a plat sketch 
from a registered surveyor registered in the state of Georgia shall be attached to the application 
which shall certify that all state and local proximity requirements for the proposed location have 
been met. Except as otherwise provided by law, such application shall be a public record and 
open to public inspection at a reasonable time and place. 
 

B. Amend the existing Section 6-7(a-f) to strike and include following language: 
 
Sec. 6-7—General regulations pertaining to all licenses. 
 

(a) License not transferable to another location. Each license is issued for a specific location only 
and may not be transferred to another location. A new application is required for each licensed 
premise. No license may be issued to different licensees for the same location. 
 
(b) Transfer of license to another person. No alcoholic beverage license shall be transferred from 
one person to another during the year in which the license or permit was obtained, except in the 
case of the death of a person holding a license, in which event his personal representative may 
continue to operate under the license for six months from the date of his qualification. 
 



 

(c) Location. None of the above licenses shall be issued except in the following zones as defined 
in Appendix A (Zoning) of the Code of the City of Statesboro: 
 
(1) CBD, Commercial Business District; 
 
(2) CR, Commercial Retail District; 
 
(3) HOC; Highway Oriented Commercial District 
 
(4) LI; Light Industrial District 
 
(d) Proximity Requirements; Package sales for off-premises consumption governed by O.C.G.A. 
§ 3-3-21. 
 

(1) Class B and C licenses shall be issued for a location only if the location complies with 
the proximity requirements provided by O.C.G.A. § 3-3-21 as measured by the Rules and 
Regulations promulgated by the Georgia Department of Revenue. 
(2) Nothing in this subparagraph shall prohibit a grocery store licensed for the retail sale 
of only wine and malt beverages for consumption off the premises from selling wine or malt 
beverages within 100 yards of any college campus. As used in this subparagraph, the term 
"grocery store" shall, as provided in O.C.G.A. § 3-3-21(a)(1)(B), mean a retail 
establishment which has a total retail floor space of at least 10,000 square feet of which at 
least 85 percent is reserved for the sale of food and other nonalcoholic items, and 
conducts all of its sales inside the building containing its retail floor space and meets all 
other criteria by this ordinance.  
 
(3) As further provided in O.C.G.A. § 3-3-21(a)(1)(B) the above proximity requirements 
shall not apply at any location for which a license has been issued prior to July 1, 1981, nor 
to the renewal of such license. Nor shall the above proximity requirements apply at any 
location for which a new license is applied for if the sale of wine and beer was lawful at 
such location at any time during the twelve (12) months immediately preceding such 
application. 
 

(e) Proximity Requirements; Sales for Consumption on the Premises; local regulation permitted 
per O.C.G.A. § 3-3-21(b)(3). 
 

(1) Class D, Class E and Class F alcoholic beverage licenses shall not be issued for a 
location in which the nearest point on a wall of the building proposed as the licensed 
premises is closer than 100 yards in a straight line measurement to the nearest wall of a 
school building, an educational building on a college campus, or a church in existence at 
the time of the application for the initial license. without a certificate from a land surveyor, 
registered in the state of Georgia, showing a scaled drawing of the location of the 
proposed premises and the shortest straight line distance from the front door/primary 
entrance to any church building, school building, educational building, school grounds, 
college building, or college campus located within a radius of 100 yards of the premises.  
  



 

(2) No licenses shall be issued under this chapter for any location in which the nearest 
point on a wall of the building proposed as the licensed premises is closer than 100 yards 
in a straight line measurement to the nearest point of the property line of an alcohol 
treatment center which is in existence at the time of the application for the initial license. 
without a certificate from a land surveyor, registered in the state of Georgia, showing a 
scaled drawing of the location of the proposed premises and the shortest straight line 
distance from the front door/primary entrance to any alcoholic treatment center building 
located within a radius of 100 yards of the premises.  
 
(3) No licenses shall be issued under this chapter for any location in which the nearest 
point on a wall of the building proposed as the licensed premises is closer than 100 yards 
in a straight line measurement to the nearest point of the property line of a private dwelling 
located within a single-family residentially zoned district which is in existence at the time of 
the application for the initial license. 
 
(4) The proximity requirements for Class D, Class E and Class F licenses shall be in effect 
for all districts in which such licenses are authorized, with the exception of any restaurant 
as defined in this chapter that is granted a distance waiver permit for a restaurant by the 
Mayor and City Council pursuant to subsection 6-5(o). 
 

(f) At the time of initial application, a plat sketch from a registered surveyor shall be attached to the 
application which shall certify that all state and local proximity requirements for the proposed 
location have been met. A survey may be required for property line measurements, in some 
instances, to include the minimum property line distances as required by state law.  
 
First Reading:  
  
Second Reading:   
 
THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
 
_________________________     _________________________ 
    By: Jan J. Moore, Mayor       Attest: Sue Starling, City Clerk 


	12-06-2016 Council Agenda
	12-2016 CCP Flyer
	11-15-2016 Council minutes
	12-2016 Proclamation Ray Hendrix City of Statesboro
	12-2016 ALCOHOL CITATIONS
	12-2016 40 EAST GRILL Alcohol Catering
	12-2016 12 City Ordinance Chapter 42 Fire Protection and Prevention Final Draft to be Adopted PDF (1)
	12-2016 Police Vehicle purchase
	12-2016 Police recruitment incemtives
	12-2016 MOU DSDA 2017
	12-2016 Memo-Streets Tractor Rec 2017-10
	12-2016-1 Blue Mile Banner Attachment Application memo
	12-2016-2 Georgia Power Agreement
	12-2016-3 GDOT Encroachment Permit Application
	12-2016-42 RESOLUTION  1st amended to Rules and Regs
	12-2016-42  First Amendment Attachement A Adm Procedures Water and Sewer Billing
	ATTACHMENT "A"
	TO RESOLUTION NO. 2016-42
	U1 PURPOSE AND SCOPE
	1.1 PURPOSE
	1.2 EXEMPTIONS FROM TERMINATION OF SERVICE DUE TO HARDSHIP; WAIVER OF LATE FEES, COLLECTION FEES AND DEPOSITS
	1.3 BILLING ADJUSTMENTS DUE TO WATER LEAKS
	1.8 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS
	1.8.1:  No employee of the City of Statesboro or a member of the employee’s household or immediate family shall be granted an exemption or adjustment, as provided above, to their water or sewer bill without the written consent of the City Manager.
	1.8.2:  No appointed official of the City of Statesboro, e.g. the City Manager, the City Clerk, the City Attorney, and the Municipal Court Judge, or a member of the appointed official’s household or immediate family shall be granted an exemption or ad...
	1.8.3: No elected official of the City of Statesboro or a member of the elected official’s household or immediate family shall be granted an exemption or adjustment, as provided above, to their water or sewer bill without the written consent of two (2...
	1.9: SEVERABILITY

	12-2016-43-44 Resolution  memo11-30-2016_P&D PC Recommendations_Executed
	12-2016-43 Appointment RESOLUTION 2016 Carlos Brown (1)
	12-2016-44 Appointment RESOLUTION 2016 Mary Foreman
	12-2016 EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT for Cain
	12-2016 Discussion Chapter 6 Alcohol Ordinance Amedment November 2016_FINAL
	WHEREAS, the City has previously adopted an ordinance regulating alcoholic beverages; and
	Sec. 6-5. - Application procedure; contents of application; contents to be furnished under
	oath.
	(a) Generally. The applicant for a license or permit under this chapter shall make a written application under oath on the form as proscribed by the City Clerk or his or her designated representative. A floor plan for each licensed premise as defined ...


